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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good

          3  afternoon. I am Karen Koslowitz, the Chair of the

          4  Council's Committee on Consumer Affairs.

          5                 Today the Committee on Consumer

          6  Affairs will hold an initial hearing on Intro. No.

          7  468, a bill that would make the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs responsible for licensing

          9  approximately 14,000 to 15,000 retail cigarette

         10  dealers.

         11                 We are all agreed that children

         12  should not be smoking or buying tobacco products.

         13  Our laws are designed to protect children from these

         14  products and from advertising for these products.

         15                 I am sure we all know how bad

         16  cigarettes are. The bill we have before us today

         17  seeks to reduce smoking among children by moving the

         18  licensing of retailers from the Department of

         19  Finance to the Department of Consumer Affairs and

         20  reducing from three to two the number of violations

         21  within two years that causes a business to lose its

         22  license.

         23                 It also increases the fines and

         24  penalties for stores:

         25                 One, selling loose cigarettes.
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          2                 Two, that have unsupervised employees

          3  under the age of 18 selling cigarettes.

          4                 Three, that fail to post the proper

          5  sign indicating that selling tobacco products to

          6  individuals under 18 is prohibited by law and/or

          7  selling cigarettes to any customer under 18.

          8                 Intro. No. 468 also prevents license

          9  holders from avoiding the penalties that result from

         10  multiple violations by counting all violations at

         11  the same location, unless a new license has been

         12  issued to a business that has proven it was a quiet,

         13  through an arm's length transaction, and not for

         14  purposes of avoiding penalties for the violations

         15  relating to the original license.

         16                 Today is a first hearing and I am

         17  sure we will hear from lots of people concerned with

         18  this bill. The goal of this bill is stopping

         19  under-aged people from being able to buy cigarettes

         20  is great. But many people here will have questions

         21  on particulars in this bill and whether this is a

         22  fair way to accomplish the goal.

         23                 As Chair of this Committee, I have

         24  concerns about whether DCA has the resources

         25  necessary to take on this additional responsibility.
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          2                 In the past several years, DCA has

          3  taken on responsibilities to jointly enforce tobacco

          4  law, to enforce bans on the sale of box-cutters and

          5  laser pointers to children, and enforce pay phone

          6  regulations.

          7                 Meanwhile, since the early 1990s,

          8  when DCA staff averaged 323 full-time employees, the

          9  agency has lost about 25 percent of their staff and

         10  currently they have only 240 full-time employees.

         11                 Given these realities, it is

         12  important that we assess the degree to which the

         13  agency is continuing to meet its general mandate of

         14  protecting consumers. It is important that if

         15  additional functions are to move to DCA staff and

         16  resources are provided so that they can do the job,

         17  adding an additional 14,000 licenses to the current

         18  45 licenses -- licensees, will add approximately 33

         19  percent more licensees and will require additional

         20  enforcement, adjudication and licensing personnel.

         21                 I will be calling on the Commissioner

         22  and then we will try to put together panels for and

         23  against this legislation. There are a lot of people

         24  who would like to speak today, so I will ask that

         25  you keep your comments as brief and to the point as
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          2  possible.

          3                 I thank you all for coming today.

          4                 Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Chairwoman

          6  Koslowitz, good afternoon, members of the Committee.

          7  Thank you for holding this hearing on Intro. 468, a

          8  bill that is essential for the City and the

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs to combat the illegal

         10  sale of cigarettes to minors.

         11                 Thank you, as well, for inviting me

         12  to testify in favor of this bill. I am joined by

         13  several members of my staff that I would like to

         14  introduce and who I am sure I will refer to if there

         15  are specifics that come up. Andy Eiler, our

         16  Legislative Analyst, Adam Barnett, who is the

         17  Assistant Commissioner for Enforcement, and Mike

         18  Haberman, our Director of Policy and Planning.

         19                 I also want to thank by mentioning

         20  briefly that the success of this program to date has

         21  been completely due to the effort and commitment of

         22  the inspectors and the support staff at DCA who have

         23  taken this enforcement quite seriously working

         24  hand-in-hand with the rest of the agency, as well as

         25  with the minors who are undercover partners here and
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          2  I think some of the successes that we are able to

          3  point to in the declining number of stores that sell

          4  is truly credited initially to those inspectors and

          5  more than the tremendous commitment they have put in

          6  to making sure the program is a success.

          7                 Intro. 468 is a somewhat technical

          8  bill because it amends several different chapters of

          9  the Administrative Code, but to resummarize it

         10  briefly, the bill creates a Consumer Affairs license

         11  to replace the Department of Finance tobacco dealer

         12  license, that retailers are required to obtain if

         13  they want to sell cigarettes. It raises the fine for

         14  selling cigarettes to minors from $300 to $1,000 for

         15  a first violation, and $500 to $2,000 for any

         16  subsequent violations. It allows that new license to

         17  be suspended after two violations within two years.

         18  Currently, as you know, the Department of Finance

         19  license, which is a tax license, can only be

         20  suspended if we are able to find somebody three

         21  times within a two-year period.

         22                 Finally, the bill allows the

         23  Department to reject a license application for a

         24  location where a license has been revoked within the

         25  past two years.
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          2                 Let me point out that the

          3  Administration isn't proposing these changes because

          4  we think we have been unsuccessful in making inroads

          5  in stemming the sale of cigarettes to minors. On the

          6  contrary, the City has been incredibly successful at

          7  putting a substantial dent in the problem of

          8  retailers selling cigarettes to minors.

          9                 As you know, because of a grant from

         10  the New York State Department of Health, New York

         11  City now has the nation's largest anti-tobacco

         12  retail program in the country. Between April and

         13  September of last year, the Department of Consumer

         14  Affairs performed more than 8,200 undercover

         15  inspections of cigarette selling businesses, with

         16  the help of our undercover teen inspectors who were

         17  paid 6.25 an hour, our inspectors issued 2,651

         18  violations for stores that illegally sold cigarettes

         19  to minors. These violations amounted to more than

         20  $700,000 in fines.

         21                 That means overall 32 percent of the

         22  inspections resulted in violations.

         23                 What I think is most important,

         24  however, is to look at the trends that were set by

         25  these inspections. You can see from the chart that
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          2  is on my side the red dots that indicate the

          3  locations where we were able to purchase cigarettes.

          4  You can see from the chart that is next to that, the

          5  tremendous decline that began once word of this

          6  enforcement began to spread, and once stores began

          7  to feel the penalty of paying a $300 fine when they

          8  were caught selling to a minor.

          9                 By September, only 17 percent of the

         10  inspections we carried out resulted in violations.

         11  That is a truly tremendous improvement, it shows

         12  that this pattern of undercover inspections using

         13  minors can and does work. Fifty-one percent down to

         14  17 percent.

         15                 I think, however, we can all agree

         16  that in today's day and age, with 3,000 teenagers

         17  starting to smoke every day, 17 percent of the

         18  stores in New York City breaking the law and selling

         19  to a minor, nearly one in five is still way too

         20  high. We would never accept that kind of failure

         21  rate in any of our other categories or in any other

         22  business that was expected to follow the law. And

         23  while parents and teachers certainly play a primary

         24  role in preventing and educating children about

         25  smoking, this Department can play a major role by
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          2  ensuring that retailers as well are doing their

          3  part.

          4                 For the Department to lower that 17

          5  percent rate and to eventually bring it as soon as

          6  possible down to zero, where every retailer knows

          7  that not only is it morally wrong, and not only is

          8  it horrendous in today's day and age to hook a kid

          9  on cigarettes and participate in selling those

         10  cigarettes to a minor, but that you will indeed be

         11  caught for breaking the law, we need to see Intro.

         12  468 become law.

         13                 As I said when I summarized the bill,

         14  the Intro. would create a Department of Consumer

         15  Affairs cigarette dealer license.

         16                 Right now the Department of Finance

         17  license is primarily used as a tax enforcement tool

         18  so that the City can be sure that wholesalers and

         19  those who are responsible pay the taxes that are

         20  owed.

         21                 Although the license can be suspended

         22  if a business is found guilty of selling cigarettes

         23  to a minor three times in two years, the Department

         24  of Consumer Affairs does the primary enforcement and

         25  holds hearings on these kinds of violations.
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          2                 If after a retailer is found guilty

          3  three times within a two-year period by the

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs, the Department of

          5  Finance implements the suspension recommendation.

          6                 This is a fairly burdensome and

          7  inefficient bureaucratic process, it requires

          8  Consumer Affairs to do the inspections, to issue the

          9  violation, to hold the hearing, and then let Finance

         10  know about its findings. Finance plays a great

         11  number of critical roles in the City, but the sale

         12  of cigarettes to minors hasn't been a primary

         13  function of the agency, as the agency that is out

         14  there routinely educating and enforcing the

         15  practices of businesses.  The Department of Consumer

         16  Affairs certainly is, and that is why we, either in

         17  partnership with Finance or in partnership with the

         18  Department of Health, have carried out these

         19  inspections.

         20                 That is why we propose that this

         21  license, which will enable us to determine who

         22  indeed is permitted to sell cigarettes, and to

         23  ensure that our licensees abide by the laws, the

         24  same way we enforce the laws against our many other

         25  licensees. Retailers must obtain a license if they
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          2  want to sell alcohol, there is no reason why they

          3  shouldn't need a true license to sell cigarettes as

          4  well.

          5                 As I just said, the current law

          6  allows Consumer Affairs to recommend that the

          7  Finance tax license be suspended, if the merchant is

          8  found guilty three times in two years. We believe

          9  this is too lenient and we propose that the new

         10  license be suspended if there are two violations

         11  within two years.

         12                 Some merchants may argue that two

         13  violations is too few, that innocent mistakes may

         14  happen. I remind you that the Department of Consumer

         15  Affairs Administrative Law Judges make their rulings

         16  on a case-by-case basis and after a full hearing at

         17  which a violator can present the defense, if there

         18  is indeed a valid explanation for an illegal sale, a

         19  judge can take those defenses into account and rule

         20  accordingly.

         21                 Another component of the bill that I

         22  believe is a very important tool is issuing a

         23  violation to the location, not just the business.

         24  This will help us eliminate a major problem known as

         25  flipping, which is when a merchant technically sells
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          2  the business to a friend or relative, so as to not

          3  be held responsible for prior violations, but in

          4  reality and practice maintains control of the

          5  business and continues selling cigarettes and

          6  unfortunately continues selling cigarettes to

          7  minors.

          8                 In many cases, a merchant who has

          9  received one or two violations flips the business,

         10  knowing that one more violation will take away his

         11  license, he acts quickly. Although we know it is not

         12  a genuine arm length's transaction, there is

         13  currently legally very little that we can do. The

         14  violations are erased practically and the new

         15  business with its new Finance license continues to

         16  do business with a clean slate without the prior

         17  violation being properly before the judge, if that

         18  business breaks the law once again.

         19                 By issuing violations to the

         20  location, a new owner will be responsible for

         21  violations issued to the previous owner of the

         22  business. So, a merchant who flips his business will

         23  still have the violation on his record and a next

         24  violation could result in suspension or revocation

         25  of the license.
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          2                 At first glance this may appear to be

          3  unfair to a merchant who really does execute a true

          4  arms length transaction and now finds himself

          5  responsible for the previous owner's mistakes. As a

          6  result, the bill reflects that problem by giving the

          7  merchant the opportunity to prove that the sale

          8  truly was an arms length transaction, in which case

          9  the new owner will not be responsible for the

         10  violations of the previous owner and will indeed

         11  start with a clean record. But this will give the

         12  Department a significant ability to prevent what has

         13  become one of the glaring loopholes in the entire

         14  tobacco sales enforcement program.

         15                 In addition, once the license is

         16  suspended, the Department will have the authority to

         17  deny any cigarette dealer application at that

         18  location for the next two years. This provision not

         19  only enforces the merchant to be more responsible,

         20  but it prevents the premises from being used for

         21  such sales to avoid continued violations repeatedly,

         22  especially at locations near schools.

         23                 Again, if a true arms length

         24  transaction can be proven, the Department has the

         25  authority to grant a license.
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          2                 This premise-based violations system

          3  is simple to the power exercised by the State Liquor

          4  Authority which has the authority to issue licensed

          5  moratoriums at any location where a license had been

          6  suspended.

          7                 That law certainly has been upheld in

          8  the courts, and we think we are certainly on the

          9  same firm ground in looking for this important

         10  addition to the enforcement mechanism.

         11                 The Intro. also calls for an increase

         12  in fines from a $300 penalty to a $1,000 penalty for

         13  the first offense, and a $500 to a $2,000 increase

         14  in any subsequent offense.

         15                 Unfortunately, our inspections show

         16  that there are unscrupulous merchants who consider

         17  the current fines simply the cost of doing business.

         18  With the high prices of cigarettes, the merchant

         19  does not have to sell to too many minors to make up

         20  the cost of this fine. We need to change that.

         21  Selling cigarettes is a serious violation and should

         22  result in a serious penalty.

         23                 Finally, Intro. 468 also includes a

         24  provision that will allow the Department to hold

         25  hearings for any violations of laws that it has the
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          2  authority to enforce.

          3                 Let me explain what this means.

          4  Currently the Department has the authority to hold

          5  hearings for many types of violations, including the

          6  sale of cigarettes to minors.

          7                 We do, however, lack the authority to

          8  enforce other laws that are intended to protect

          9  minors, such as box-cutters and spray paint.

         10                 In these cases, the Department issues

         11  violations under the Consumer Protection Law. The

         12  Consumer Protection Law, which allows us to enforce

         13  unconscionable trade practices, as well as a rule

         14  that says that selling any item to a minor is

         15  prohibited by law to be an unconscionable trade

         16  practice, is the basis for many of those consumer

         17  protection law violations.

         18                 Therefore, we can issue a violation

         19  for an unconscionable trade practice to anyone who

         20  sells a box-cutter to a minor.

         21                 However, in those cases, as well as

         22  many other Consumer Protection Law violations, the

         23  Department does not have hearing authority.

         24                 If a merchant refuses to pay the fine

         25  for an unconscionable trade practice, the Department
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          2  has to take that merchant to court. As you can

          3  imagine, that is an expensive and burdensome

          4  process.

          5                 On the other hand, in the areas where

          6  we do have hearing authority, we have much greater

          7  leverage. If a merchant refuses to pay the fine, the

          8  Department can simply file in civil court and make a

          9  motion for summary judgment based on the decision of

         10  our Administrative Law Judge. Simpler, quicker,

         11  easier and significantly less expensive.

         12                 In recent legislation passed by the

         13  Council, including the laser pointer bill, as well

         14  as the proposed amendment that we discussed recently

         15  regarding toy guns, hearing authority for the

         16  Department was specifically included. This proposed

         17  amendment is needed to cover the many other

         18  categories of violations where we issue for either

         19  deceptive advertising, improper price disclosure by

         20  funeral homes, improper posting of prices in retail

         21  establishments, and many other violations.

         22                 This provision, therefore, would

         23  create a comprehensive uniform procedure for

         24  enforcing all the laws within the Department's

         25  jurisdiction, rather than having to provide this
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          2  authority on an ad hoc basis piecemeal case-by-case

          3  and piece of legislation by piece of legislation.

          4                 As we all know, ending the sale of

          5  cigarettes to minors must be a top priority. This

          6  bill will be a major step in reaching that goal and

          7  we urge your favorable speedy consideration.

          8                 That is the end of my prepared

          9  statement. I would, of course, be happy to respond

         10  to any questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I want to ask

         12  you, you had mentioned that if someone owned a store

         13  and had sold to a minor, and then they would sell

         14  the store to someone else, not family, just in the

         15  two years they decide they are going to sell the

         16  business to someone totally that they don't know,

         17  someone who is off the street. That person will be

         18  held to the two years of getting a license?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: If indeed it

         20  is an arms length transaction, that this is a true

         21  sale, then the previous violations would not be held

         22  against them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: If it is a

         24  total stranger.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: If it is a
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          2  true arms length transaction, then the Department

          3  can grant a license, and any of the previous

          4  violations do not carry over against the new

          5  license. Only if it is a true arms length

          6  transaction. This would require that the individual

          7  coming in demonstrate that it is indeed an arms

          8  length transaction.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How would they

         10  prove that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: A sale to an

         12  unrelated individual at a fair market price --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right.

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY:-- Would be

         15  prima facie --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And they would

         17  not be held responsible for what happened before?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 The goal is not to prevent -- it is

         21  legal to sell cigarettes, this goal is not to

         22  prevent people from having licenses to do something

         23  that is legal, it is to ensure that somebody who has

         24  broken the law and avoid the law by what they do

         25  today. I will tell you sadly, as our inspectors are
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          2  out and they pass locations where we have revoked

          3  the license, we find somebody doing business with

          4  another license. Unfortunately we find people with

          5  several licenses. There has been this great

          6  confusion as we have tried to determine directly

          7  with the Department of Finance exactly how many

          8  licenses there are, because we will go out with a

          9  list of active licenses and we will find different

         10  locations that now exist, different stores with the

         11  old license, we will find a current licensee with

         12  several licenses, and so, frankly, right now the

         13  system that is set up, which really is a very

         14  minimal way of tracking, it wasn't created, most of

         15  these laws are five, ten years old, and the

         16  Department of Finance tax license was the most

         17  effective immediate opportunity to hang a penalty on

         18  and to revoke, but it wasn't created, frankly,

         19  initially to be a license to sell cigarettes. It was

         20  created to be a way that Finance could track

         21  wholesalers and track whether taxes were paid,

         22  primarily the tax that the wholesaler is paying. And

         23  so, it is not currently an effective way to make

         24  sure somebody is out of business, although we have

         25  collected thousands and thousands of dollars in
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          2  fines, and that certainly has been a deterrent. We

          3  do not have anything like the deterrent that we have

          4  when it comes to say, you know, an electronics store

          5  that is breaking the law who can truly lose their

          6  license if they break the law.

          7                 Today people can break the law and

          8  legally sell their business elsewhere and there is

          9  no tool that currently exists to successfully ensure

         10  that that person doesn't evade the law just by

         11  getting another tax down, this would solve that

         12  problem.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

         14  ask you, on the chart there all of the stars in

         15  purple, what does that represent?

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Those are

         17  the locations where we purchased tobacco. Thousands

         18  of them. The chart is, without blowing it up more,

         19  we could show even greater detail, those are --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: To minors?

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Those are

         22  thousands of places where minors with DCA inspectors

         23  purchased tobacco like these packages of cigarettes.

         24  We have unfortunately not only this box, I have a

         25  room full of this evidence back at the Department,
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          2  and we have hearings scheduled for months from today

          3  continuing on the enforcements that have been

          4  continuing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I also want to

          6  ask you, what does the Charter Revision you have

          7  requested have to do with tobacco licensees?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The hearing

          9  authority provision deals with the Department's

         10  ability to actually collect on the fines that it

         11  issues. And particularly of great concern to us, as

         12  we talk about the unconscionable practices that

         13  minors face when it comes to tobacco, I think it is

         14  appropriate to also consider the other protection --

         15  one of the important roles that this Administration

         16  sees for the Department of Consumer Affairs is

         17  protecting our young people, that means box-cutters,

         18  that means spray paint, that means tobacco sales to

         19  minors. And in those other categories, for instance,

         20  we currently wouldn't be able to successfully,

         21  without actually suing a business and taking it to

         22  court, enforce the penalties that we write.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You have the

         24  power over the licensees also, so isn't this like

         25  overkill?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have

          3  licensees in many of the areas where we do

          4  enforcement; for instance, box-cutters or spray

          5  paint or graffiti. We have a huge problem now with

          6  funeral homes that have been, in addition to raising

          7  prices, not properly giving out price information.

          8  We actually would have to sue every one of those if

          9  they have refused to pay our violation. Some of the

         10  violations that we issue to supermarkets are not

         11  hearable, some of the important violations that I

         12  think are a priority to the Council, as well as

         13  consumers, we have to actually go to court if we are

         14  to successfully enforce the violation. So, I think

         15  what this appropriately does is it closes the gap

         16  that currently exists.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But you will

         18  have power over the licenses.

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Tobacco,

         20  yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Tobacco.

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: But not the

         23  many other areas that are relevant to the sale of

         24  items to minors, such as box-cutters and graffiti,

         25  as well as all the other areas that continue to be
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          2  out there.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Will DCA

          4  obtain additional personnel to process and

          5  administer 15,000 new licenses?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Yes? Is that

          8  in the forthcoming budget?

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The

         10  Executive Budget that was recently released I guess

         11  last week --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: -- Includes

         14  five additional personnel for the Department of

         15  Consumer Affairs, all dedicated to the tobacco

         16  enforcement. It's an opportunity for us to expand on

         17  something which always was a mission of the agency,

         18  I must note, although we are doing this on a much

         19  larger scale than every before because of the state

         20  funding that we have been able to receive as a

         21  result of the national legislation, the Department

         22  has always done some of this. As long as seven or

         23  eight or nine years ago, enforcement sweeps were

         24  carried out by previous commissioners, but minimal

         25  and ad hoc basis, going out for a week or two weeks
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          2  or weekends as the case could be, mixed in with many

          3  of the other inspections we do.

          4                 This state funding, as well as the

          5  priority that we give to this now, have created a

          6  much broader program and as a result we are now

          7  doing it on a Citywide intensive basis, so we really

          8  can solve this problem with the new needs that will

          9  be the result of this legislation. For instance, we

         10  will be doing significantly more licensing, as you

         11  pointed out.

         12                 Fortunately, we are set up to do

         13  licensing. As you know, we are the Citywide

         14  licensing center, in addition to doing 50,000 of our

         15  licenses we will do about 50,000 of the Department

         16  of Health licenses and so we are easily structured

         17  to plug license categories into our system, but the

         18  budget does include funding for what I anticipate

         19  will be two personnel in licensing, two in

         20  enforcement, a well as funding for some appropriate

         21  supervisory promotion so that we can manage the

         22  enforcement as we would, as well as some of the

         23  clerical help that will be needed to help allocate

         24  the volume of paperwork and so forth that will come

         25  with this.
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          2                 We anticipate that we will be

          3  successful in handling -- frankly, we are already

          4  doing this work right now based on the state grant,

          5  what this does is it gives us the ability to be

          6  effective, more effective when we do it.

          7                 We are already doing this

          8  enforcement, we have done it last year, we were out

          9  this past weekend, we have begun our next phase of

         10  this enforcement. So we are doing it successfully

         11  now with our current staff, but, frankly, there will

         12  be new needs that the Department faces as a result

         13  of the licensing, as a result of what we assume will

         14  be additional enforcement commitments as a result of

         15  the new fines, and so we think we will be well able

         16  to do that with the new funding. In addition to the

         17  personnel costs that are added, there is also -- I

         18  can't recall the dollar amount, but there is also a

         19  dollar amount of OTPS costs that will be added so

         20  that we can process the paperwork and photo copying

         21  and the mailing costs and so forth.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: It looks like

         23  you did a lot of inspections, you know, judging from

         24  that map; how did it affect that other inspections

         25  that you have jurisdiction over the licenses?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: As you will

          3  see soon, as you have seen in our previous MMR and

          4  as you will see in our upcoming MMR tomorrow, the

          5  number of violations that we have issued has

          6  continued to rise substantially and the number of

          7  inspections in most categories is up as well.

          8                 The mix of inspections often changes

          9  to a great degree, based on priorities that we set

         10  at the Department, and we may see a problem area

         11  because of complaints and we may decide it is where

         12  we should focus, and so you may see month by month

         13  changes in specific breakdowns, but our overall

         14  numbers of inspections, as well as our overall

         15  number of violations has significantly jumped.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Why are the

         17  licenses going up $45? The difference between the

         18  Department of Finance and going over to the

         19  Department of Consumer Affairs?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't

         21  think there really is a current license now, and one

         22  of the reasons why there is not an ability either at

         23  Finance or DCA now to track who is who is because

         24  what you really have right now is a tax stamp. You

         25  send in $10, fill out some information, you get a
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          2  piece of paper. I hesitate to call that a license.

          3                 What a DCA license looks like, as you

          4  well know, is a substantially additional obligation

          5  of providing a much greater degree of information,

          6  if it's appropriate it requires fingerprinting, we

          7  need to know who the principals are, because our

          8  goal is to know who you are and to ensure you live

          9  by a set of rules. A Finance license wasn't relevant

         10  to who you are and what rules it was, we need to

         11  know you exist because we want to make sure the

         12  wholesaler is paying a tax and that you have a tax

         13  stamp on your pack of cigarettes. They didn't need

         14  to know anymore and it wasn't created to give them

         15  any more information.

         16                 Most DCA licenses cost approximately

         17  $340. That has been the financial breakdown of the

         18  agency's infrastructure and processing and personnel

         19  costs to maintain one license. Most of our licenses

         20  cost around that dollar amount, many cost more.

         21                 Our cheapest and lowest cost licenses

         22  are probably in the range of $100 to $200 for street

         23  vendors for some of the lowest costs, this would be

         24  at $110 for two years, or $55 for one year, our

         25  lowest or among our lowest cost licenses. By law we
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          2  can't charge more than what it costs us, it will

          3  probably cost us around $300 but since these are

          4  primarily smaller businesses and smaller merchants,

          5  we figured we would actually put as low a figure as

          6  possible. It costs more to today license your pet

          7  than it does to sell cigarettes. This is a fairly

          8  serious responsibility that somebody is assuming and

          9  so we think that the minimal license fee that we

         10  proposed is an appropriate level.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you pay a

         12  fee for the state license, and will this be an

         13  addition?

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We don't

         15  have any relationship with the state license.

         16                 Do retailers pay a fee for the State

         17  license? There may be a fee, I don't know the dollar

         18  amount. One-hundred dollars. This is regardless and

         19  separate from the state license. This will truly be,

         20  and again, the state license as well is again

         21  primarily a tax tracking tool. There is no true

         22  license. This will be a true tobacco retail license

         23  that will be used to track and be sure that

         24  merchants are living by the laws. None of the other

         25  licenses truly do that. They are primarily tax
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          2  accounting tools.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How were the

          4  cigarette stings done?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: A company by

          6  minors. Our inspectors prepare a list of stores that

          7  they will be going to see. We are planning on

          8  visiting approximately five to 6,000 stores over the

          9  next couple of months. We are currently out making

         10  those inspections right now.

         11                 Currently we use a Department of

         12  Finance list that we have of all of the licensees.

         13  We visit the store. A minor goes into the business,

         14  he doesn't have any ID. He or she is under age, and

         15  they request a pack of cigarettes. They are

         16  accompanied by an inspector, they purchase the

         17  cigarettes, then the minor is out of the store,

         18  safely out of way, the inspector returns to the

         19  premises and serves the violation to the offending

         20  merchant.

         21                 At that point the merchant can either

         22  contact the Department and pay the penalty

         23  immediately, or they very soon receive a pleading

         24  letter from the Department letting them know how

         25  they can show up at a hearing if they choose to, how

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  they can settle the violation by pleading guilty if

          3  they choose to, and what their rights are at a

          4  hearing. A good number settle, but frankly, many do

          5  come in to try to explain what and why and how they

          6  sold, and then a DCA administrative law judge hands

          7  down a decision.

          8                 If the merchant has previous

          9  violations, that decision can include a

         10  recommendation to revoke or suspend the license.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you

         12  contemplate any kinds of education or training for

         13  retailers in light of the seriousness of the

         14  penalties and the fact that many small tobacco

         15  retailers, such as newsstands and deli operators,

         16  are recent immigrants?

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes indeed.

         18                 We have, during our earlier

         19  enforcements, done mailings to merchants in areas

         20  that we were going to be targeting, we have had

         21  groups of teens who distributed literature to

         22  merchants in areas that were part of the enforcement

         23  in advance, and so we today at our licensing center,

         24  I actually had to peel this off the wall, this was

         25  actually up at our licensing center and so many of
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          2  the merchants who come in from the various different

          3  kinds of businesses that may sell cigarettes that we

          4  currently might license for other purposes who were

          5  in for Health Department licenses or so forth, have

          6  become increasingly aware. And the Department of

          7  Health, the City Department of Health, is actually

          8  the recipient of this grant, has each year reserved

          9  a portion of the funding to be used for education

         10  and outreach. And so they in addition to us do

         11  mailings and other publicity.

         12                 We have tried to make sure, frankly,

         13  that this was as well known enforcement as possible,

         14  we tell the kids your job is not to try to catch

         15  somebody, you are not successful just because you

         16  have caught somebody. We will consider ourselves

         17  successful when we have driven down the rate. The

         18  goal is to go in there, you are not supposed to lie

         19  about your age, you are not supposed to lie about

         20  ID. We actually thought about it first before we

         21  said if we are going to go into an area, should we

         22  warn the merchants before we go? And we said why

         23  not? Let them be as educated and as aware. Sadly to

         24  say, despite many advance mailings, those

         25  enforcement rates you see are often in areas where
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          2  we specifically either mailed or handed out

          3  literature and then did an enforcement and yet an

          4  employee was still ready and willing to sell.

          5                 So, I agree with you that the

          6  education is a significant part of what needs to

          7  happen, and we look forward to doing a lot more of

          8  that, both directly with our resources, as well as

          9  with the Department of Health which plays a primary

         10  role there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Who is

         12  currently responsible for the signage?

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We do the

         14  enforcement, the Department of Health, the violation

         15  is a Department of Health violation, as well as

         16  ours, but frankly, we are the ones that are

         17  primarily going into the stores and looking for

         18  this. So, we are the ones who are issuing the

         19  violations.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But who is

         21  responsible for providing the signage?

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We provided

         23  signs, the Department of Health provided signs, we

         24  have a sample sign that is available at the

         25  licensing center. We have distributed signs as we
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          2  have done enforcements. We have an informal policy

          3  which we may change, but we have informally had a

          4  policy that if there is a sign up, even if it is not

          5  technically an obligated sign, we will issue a

          6  warning and give the merchant or make available the

          7  appropriate sign, but we haven't issued violations

          8  for a merchant who did not sell but whose sign was

          9  one that a retail association that was put up by one

         10  way or another, we have tried to educate them and

         11  give them the legally required sign. If a merchant

         12  has sold and has had no sign, he is likely to be hit

         13  with a violation both for not selling and the sign.

         14  So, those who have made a good faith effort and put

         15  up whatever sign they had or could get their hands

         16  on as an effort to comply, we weren't going to issue

         17  them a violation, we gave them a warning and tried

         18  to get them the right signage.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         20                 I have one more question and then I

         21  wanted to turn it over to my colleagues.

         22                 If these retailers become DCA

         23  licensees, will violations of other portions of the

         24  Consumer Affairs Code, such as consumer protection

         25  law violations, unrelated to tobacco sales, subject
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          2  them to DCA's jurisdiction as licensees?

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes. So, for

          4  instance, if we had a grocery store which sold spray

          5  paint and box-cutters, and had a license to sell

          6  tobacco, the violations written against the store

          7  for its other unconscionable trade practices could

          8  affect its license.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: The cigarette

         10  license?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's

         12  correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, if there

         14  is any kind of -- someone goes there on an

         15  inspection and they find a violation for expired

         16  milk let's say --

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's not

         18  one of ours. That's a Health Department violation.

         19  It would need to be violations of --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Item pricing?

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: If somebody,

         22  for instance, repeatedly refused to comply with item

         23  pricing law, and was issued a violation, I would

         24  argue that certainly the tobacco license is

         25  something that we should be able to yank. If the
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          2  merchant is clearly flouting the City and the

          3  State's unconscionable trade practices, I certainly

          4  think we would have real concerns about whether they

          5  are complying with the laws preventing the sale of

          6  cigarettes to minors.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, in other

          8  words, if someone got a fine for item pricing and it

          9  was specifically for item pricing, that would go

         10  against them for the two violations for --

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It wouldn't

         12  require the Department to revoke the license, but if

         13  somebody had a significantly poor track record, it

         14  certainly goes towards their fitness.

         15                 That is certainly the standard for

         16  many of our other cases. For instance, if somebody

         17  is in the business of steeling autos and has a DCA

         18  tow license, I certainly think we would want the

         19  fact that the person has been convicted of auto

         20  theft to be grounds for the agency to bar him or

         21  revoke his tow license, given that he may be using

         22  his valid City license to be involved in his

         23  unrelated activity. So, we have a fitness standard

         24  for all of our licenses.

         25                 Activity that is completely unrelated
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          2  to the business you do at your store isn't relevant.

          3  But certainly activity that raises questions about

          4  your fitness is very relevant. We currently have

          5  fitness hearings for all of our licensees, and so

          6  anybody who is of poor moral

          7  character/inappropriately fit, can lose a DCA

          8  license, and should.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, you

         10  know, I have a little problem, only because if I

         11  owned a store, not necessarily -- I mean, I would

         12  hire many, many people to work in my store, and if

         13  someone did something terribly wrong and we got a

         14  violation, I mean certain things I can understand, I

         15  just think it is very severe.

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Certainly

         17  one violation would have to be, it would be unlikely

         18  that a judge based on one violation or say item

         19  pricing would decide that somebody was unfit to hold

         20  a license; however, a significant number of

         21  violations could be very good reasons for the

         22  Department to ask an ALJ to bar the granting of a

         23  license to a licensee or any kind of license to a

         24  licensee.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.
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          2                 Council Member Sabini, you have a

          3  question?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

          5  Madame Chair.

          6                 Good afternoon, Commissioner.

          7  Commissioner, this is a pretty tough bill, and there

          8  are aspects of it I like a lot and there are aspects

          9  of it that I don't like. I like the flipping

         10  provision, I think that's good. I think there should

         11  be more of that in the Administrative Code in

         12  different places. I worry that the fee to many of

         13  the retailers who are single practitioner

         14  immigrants, many of them come from neighborhoods

         15  like the one I represent, there is a significant one

         16  going from in effect $10, although as you said is

         17  not really a license fee, to $110 every two years is

         18  a pretty good hit.

         19                 But one aspect to me that is sort of

         20  glaring in its omission from this bill, the bill

         21  seeks to, in its title, talk about licensing for the

         22  sale of tobacco products, and the bill seeks to make

         23  it more difficult for people or more severe the

         24  penalty to people who market cigarettes to minors,

         25  that's noble. But there are millions of dollars lost
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          2  to the City in the practice of buttlegging

          3  (phonetic), people who sell cigarettes from out of

          4  state that the state and the city don't collect tax

          5  on, and there is no provision in here to take the

          6  license away from people who engage in that.

          7                 Now, I would bet a lot of money that

          8  in all the inspections you have done recently that

          9  probably a significant number of those retailers

         10  sold out of state cigarettes, which we directly lose

         11  revenue on. And it would be my assertion that if we

         12  wanted this bill to be truly tough on people, that

         13  we would go after people who are robbing us blind.

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Council

         15  Member, I am glad that your enthusiastic support for

         16  this bill will be predicated on that very important

         17  provision which the Commissioner of Finance was

         18  concerned about when we began to discuss this bill,

         19  and indeed the Commissioner of Finance can suspend

         20  or revoke and recommend the same way we today

         21  recommend the Finance revocation, he continues to

         22  have that same authority or perhaps frankly even

         23  broader authority.

         24                 The Commissioner of Finance may also

         25  suspend or revoke a license requirement in any other
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          2  section of the Code or any rules promulgated

          3  hereunder, and so the current scenario where the

          4  Department of Finance would be the enforcement

          5  agency and has an enforcement division that deals

          6  with sales in the city and sales out of state and

          7  the taxes that should be paid, he would now obligate

          8  me to revoke a license when he indeed finds

          9  merchants who do that.

         10                 The process has worked recently in

         11  reverse. We have passed on when by chance we have

         12  purchased cigarettes that didn't have a tax stamp,

         13  in addition to them being evidence for our hearing,

         14  we made this evidence available to finance, and they

         15  have taken their own action against their own

         16  license. This actually will now be a more effective

         17  tool because what they had to do in the past is they

         18  would revoke their own tax license. They now will be

         19  able to order, request that I truly revoke this

         20  store's license for having in its possession

         21  cigarettes where this tax wasn't paid.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: So, I think

         24  we do that in this bill, and, frankly, improve the

         25  current situation significantly. That is a mission
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          2  of the Department of Finance.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Except that

          4  the bill now really takes much of the enforcement

          5  and leaves it at your doorstep.

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It doesn't

          7  take the tax enforcement.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I understand

          9  that. But the fact of the matter is that under this

         10  bill you are going to be going to these stores and

         11  doing enforcement.

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: As will the

         13  Department of Finance continuing to do --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you are

         15  clearly putting the accent of enforcement on

         16  cigarette retailers through this bill to your

         17  agency.

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Only because

         19  you are talking to the Consumer Affairs Commissioner

         20  who will be interested in doing his part of the

         21  mission. He can revoke, even though it won't be his

         22  license, he keeps the same number of personnel, and

         23  the same legal structure continues to be in place

         24  for his agency.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I understand
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          2  that. But the fact of the matter is that we are not

          3  having this hearing with the Commissioner of

          4  Finance, we are not having these posters with the

          5  Commissioner of Finance, we are not doing dogs and

          6  pony shows with the Commissioner of Finance, and we

          7  are losing millions of dollars in revenue. And my

          8  point only is, why not take the bureaucracy out of

          9  it. If you are going to be sending inspectors

         10  around, why don't you revoke your own license, if

         11  someone is not carrying New York cigarettes?

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We indeed

         13  will be passing on that evidence to Finance,

         14  however, our inspectors are not forensic

         15  accountants. The case that needs to be made when a

         16  store, and this is by no means my expertise, the

         17  case that needs to be made when a merchant, and

         18  frankly, a wholesaler who seem to be the prime

         19  targets over here, because although the merchants

         20  are the ones selling them, the Department of Finance

         21  focuses I think much more directly on finding out

         22  who is bringing in the vast number of those

         23  cigarettes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Or unlicensed

         25  wholesalers.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The

          3  unlicensed wholesaler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The unlicensed

          5  wholesalers. So they are not really wholesalers,

          6  they are underground wholesalers.

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Which is why

          8  the wholesale license remains at the Department of

          9  Finance.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: And the

         12  visiting the retailers to find out what they are

         13  getting and where it comes from -- in other words,

         14  just finding a retailer and saying you shouldn't

         15  have these cigarettes, your license is going to be

         16  revoked, is by no means the effective way to prevent

         17  these -- isn't the significantly effective way.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Why not? They

         19  wouldn't buy them then.

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would

         21  argue that the expertise of determining what is a

         22  valid tax stamp and the expertise of being able to

         23  track where this comes from and whose brought it

         24  into the state is a major function of the Department

         25  of Finance and collecting that revenue. And so,
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          2  unless we were to become a tax collection agency,

          3  this truly is more of a tax fraud problem, it's a

          4  mission I think they are best continuing to do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Again, we are

          6  not talking about a lot of forensic science here.

          7  Much of the contraband cigarettes have stamps that

          8  clearly say on them New Hampshire, North Carolina,

          9  you don't have to be, you know, Columbo to figure

         10  out they are not from New York State. They say so on

         11  the label. There are cases where there are

         12  fraudulent stamps.

         13                 And the other part of your argument,

         14  Commissioner, frankly I don't buy, because if you

         15  have a license as a wholesaler, the chances are

         16  those are not the people who are going to be

         17  marketing to retailers contraband cigarettes. So, if

         18  it is good enough to get retailers and smack them on

         19  the head and say we are going to take away your

         20  license if you sell cigarettes to minors, why isn't

         21  it good enough to say, if you are going to buy cheap

         22  cigarettes from a guy who sells them out of his

         23  trunk, we are going to smack you and take away your

         24  license.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Let me tell
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          2  you why.

          3                 I think that this is an example of

          4  the problem that would be created, and as you can

          5  see, we haven't done that part of the enforcement so

          6  I am by no means an expert on it. My impression is

          7  that when Finance comes across a store that doesn't

          8  have a tax stamp, they don't want to immediately

          9  grab that guy. They want to know where it is coming

         10  from.

         11                 If we were to go in and issue a

         12  violation and revoke that person's license, that

         13  would probably be the end of it. You would say, I

         14  don't know, I've got one case and I won't do it

         15  anymore. The Department of Finance presumably goes

         16  in, seizes his records, tries to track where he or

         17  she is getting those cigarettes from and take it

         18  back to the distributor and the wholesaler.

         19                 So, I think we, by doing our smaller,

         20  you know, bang the toe of the giant who is involved

         21  in this problem, would be doing some minimal good by

         22  catching the retailer, but we would be preventing

         23  Finance from going after the wholesaler or tracking

         24  the retailer to where it came from.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I would submit
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          2  to you that if the retailer knew that his license

          3  was going to be revoked if he sold contraband

          4  cigarettes, then he indeed wouldn't be buying them

          5  for the retail purchase of it.

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It currently

          7  can be revoked by the Department of Finance and yet

          8  that hasn't been a complete deterrent.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: They can be,

         10  but I guarantee you, Commissioner, that we don't

         11  have a map like that, which we could have if there

         12  were true enforcement of this, with little dots all

         13  over the City, if the Department of Finance were

         14  here. They are shoveling against the tide that is

         15  frankly huge and costing millions and millions of

         16  tax dollars to the City and the state. And if we are

         17  going to go after a problem, it seems to me why not

         18  go after a problem in a large way that is costing us

         19  money?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would

         21  argue there are lots of areas where taxes should be

         22  paid and this is certainly one major area.

         23                 Frankly, our inspectors are out

         24  dealing with the business community in a number of

         25  areas where frankly we might be concerned to
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          2  investigate about whether or not sales tax is being

          3  paid. Yet, I don't think our agency's mission could

          4  be grabbing every merchant who doesn't pay sales

          5  tax. That's a mission and it's a mission that we

          6  need to cooperate with the Department of Finance

          7  for, but I don't know that we, that the Department

          8  of Consumer Affairs, can or should become the tax

          9  enforcement agency, whether it is with a licensee or

         10  whether it is an area where we are out issuing

         11  another kind of violation because you are a store

         12  selling a toy gun and we have written a violation

         13  and an inspector theoretically could realize,

         14  assume, somehow understand that a tax wasn't being

         15  paid because of the way the item was being rung up.

         16  It would be a completely new area of enforcement for

         17  us and I think it is one that currently exists at

         18  the Department of Finance.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I mean, we are

         20  talking in parallel tracks here, and I don't think

         21  we are disagreeing, but the fact of the matter is,

         22  if your inspector is there and someone buys, and a

         23  person gets their license suspended for on two

         24  occasions selling a loose cigarette, that that is

         25  far less heinous a crime than in effect costing

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  thousands of tax dollars. If your inspector is there

          3  anyway and the pack of cigarettes says North

          4  Carolina, and there may be some of those on your

          5  witness table right now that say that, why not just

          6  lift their license then? Instead of like creating a

          7  Rue Goldberg, like contraption where you contact

          8  Finance and they go back and maybe they get the

          9  wholesaler and maybe they don't, meanwhile this guy

         10  is still raping the public for the money.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We can

         12  discuss coordinating that with the Department of

         13  Finance. Frankly --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Why can't you

         15  just put it in the bill?

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Right now we

         17  did, in the last 2,000 inspections we came across

         18  about 44 instances where there wasn't tax on the

         19  cigarettes. We immediately gave that to Finance so

         20  they could not only go in and hold a hearing to deal

         21  with revoking the license, but they also could track

         22  it to the distributors.

         23                 Your argument, I understand, is that

         24  the more effective way would be to make it very

         25  difficult for a merchant to ever sell cigarettes
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          2  without a tax stamp, but frankly we currently are

          3  looking for that, even though we don't immediately

          4  revoke the license, we give it to Finance, Finance

          5  currently looks for that, and this way the

          6  wholesaler is at least in the picture. Although we

          7  perhaps would gain somewhat, I am not sure we would

          8  gain completely because it goes to Finance now.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I don't think

         10  we are talking on different goals here, but I mean

         11  the equivalent analogy is if the police stumbled

         12  upon a crack den and then didn't make an arrest

         13  because they had to call the Narcotics Bureau, you

         14  are making it more complicated than it is.

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would

         16  argue that if a plainclothes officer came across

         17  what looked like the tip of a major drug operation,

         18  it might be wise, and again I am not law

         19  enforcement, it might be wise for him to call back

         20  and do what needs to be done --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you can

         22  also interdict on a retail level too. Both work.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: They are

         24  both enforcement strategies.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Both work,

          4  and, frankly, if you enforced it enough, you

          5  wouldn't have the problem anymore because people

          6  would be afraid to do it if they thought that their

          7  license was going to be revoked.

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I am also

          9  under the impression, Council member, that it would

         10  also require a change in state law because you have

         11  both a City and a state license, and so it is an

         12  issue that creates state tax ramifications beyond

         13  what we have at the table today.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. But

         15  there are City taxes on tobacco that are collected

         16  --

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: But the

         18  reason we have the authority to revoke what is

         19  essentially a state sanctioned license, the City as

         20  you know isn't able to tax without the --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You revoked

         22  the license you are talking about here. That is what

         23  I am talking about.

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Because the

         25  state specifically gave the Department of Finance
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          2  the authority, as well as another enforcement

          3  agency, of sales to minor to revoke a license. Our

          4  agency, I don't believe from what I am hearing now

          5  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: It's your

          7  license. Why couldn't you revoke it?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We only have

          9  the authority to revoke a license based on consumer

         10  protection issues. We don't have an authority to

         11  revoke a license legally under the state --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So ask for a

         13  Home Rule Message. I mean, again, I think we are

         14  making this more complicated than it is, and we

         15  could be going after a problem that costs the City

         16  millions of dollars at the same time that we are

         17  trying to improve the public health.

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Council

         19  Member, our Chairperson pointed out her discomfort

         20  with revoking a tobacco license based on another

         21  kind of violation, and frankly, one of the reasons

         22  we could is because we would argue that that is a

         23  deceptive trade practice that gets to your fitness.

         24                 The one way I can imagine we might be

         25  able to is, if it was adjudicated and, again, I
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          2  don't think we have the authority to adjudicate a

          3  tax issue, but let's assume -- and the way we

          4  adjudicate a tax issue is we try to prove that it is

          5  a deceptive trade practice, but assuming --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: If it's a city

          7  tax you wouldn't have the authority to adjudicate

          8  it? I am talking about the City sales now.

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: No, this

         10  agency doesn't have the authority to adjudicate

         11  anything to do with taxes.

         12                 If we can argue that there is a

         13  deceptive trade practice based on the violation of

         14  some else's law we can do so, but we couldn't, for

         15  instance, if we learned that you were not paying

         16  your sales tax, revoke your electronic store

         17  license. We would have to wait for a conviction on

         18  that in the appropriate forum.

         19                 But I appreciate the direction you

         20  are going in, we can certainly talk about ways to

         21  get at this greater problem, I just think it opens

         22  up a bunch of practical, as well as legal issues,

         23  that are beyond --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I have to tell

         25  you that, as I said at the outset, I think the bill

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  is very tough, and it's very tough on small business

          3  men and women. But if we are going to go after them,

          4  I think you should relook at the issue and find a

          5  way to go after where the money is, as Willie Sutton

          6  would say.

          7                 Thank you, Madame Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

          9  make note for the record that we received testimony

         10  from the New York City Cigarette Regulation Gasoline

         11  and Automotive Service Dealers Association, for the

         12  record.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you,

         15  Madame Chairwoman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, I would

         17  like to call Pat Brodhagen, Kevin Jennings and Sung

         18  Soo Kim.

         19                 MS. BRODHAGEN: My name is Patricia

         20  Brodhagen, and I am the Director of Public and

         21  Consumer Affairs for the Food Industry Alliance of

         22  New York State, which is the state trade association

         23  of the grocery industry.

         24                 I have a statement I would like to

         25  make, but before that I would like to introduce to
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          2  you Kevin Jennings, who is the New York Market

          3  Manager for the Southland Corp which operates

          4  7-Eleven stores, and Kevin will address you first

          5  and then I will follow up. Thank you.

          6                 MR. JENNINGS: My name is Kevin

          7  Jennings, and I am Market Manager for Market 2421 of

          8  the Southland Corporation. My market includes 26

          9  7-Eleven stores located in the City of New York.

         10                 Let me state with emphasis that the

         11  Southland Corporation has been long committed to the

         12  prevention of sales of tobacco, as well as age

         13  restricted product to minors.

         14                 One example of this commitment is our

         15  Come Of Age Training Program, which was initiated in

         16  1984 and is often held up as a model for other

         17  training programs to follow.

         18                 Through the use of a trainer, a

         19  video, role playing and periodic quizzes, the Come

         20  of Age Training Program does more than merely teach

         21  sales personnel to know the law, to recognize

         22  suspicious consumer behavior and how to effectively

         23  refuse the sale.

         24                 It also clearly indicates that

         25  Southland's corporate policy, that employees who
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          2  make unlawful sales of tobacco products to minors

          3  can and will be terminated.

          4                 Now, in New York City our 7-Eleven

          5  stores are operated by franchisees. These

          6  franchisees are independent contractors, and by law

          7  we cannot dictate to them their personnel policies,

          8  but we can and do require the franchisees to

          9  successfully complete the Come of Age course, and we

         10  make the Come of Age materials available at no

         11  charge to the franchisee for their use and scheduled

         12  training classes for their employees as requested.

         13                 I am happy to report that all of the

         14  franchisees in the City take this obligation very

         15  seriously, both as measured by their use of Come of

         16  Age training materials, and in their supervision of

         17  their employees.

         18                 While neither Southland nor our

         19  franchisees claim to be perfect, my own observation

         20  is that we are continually working together to

         21  improve our performance in managing these products.

         22  The fact that we are human is the reason why I am

         23  speaking to you here today.

         24                 Another example of Southland's

         25  commitment is through the use of card reader
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          2  technology to more accurately verify the age of

          3  potential tobacco consumers.

          4                 We are installing this technology in

          5  our cash registers as rapidly as we possibly can so

          6  that our sales personnel can run a New York City's

          7  drivers license through a card reader device that

          8  will instantly indicate whether the customer is of

          9  age to purchase a tobacco product.

         10                 Southland began this project of

         11  installing card readers some time ago, after

         12  discovering that 40 percent of the unlawful sales

         13  which occurred in our California stores were

         14  occurring after a sales person had asked for a

         15  customer's driver's license due to carelessness,

         16  customer intimidation or simple mathematical

         17  miscalculations, errors were being made by the sales

         18  person as they attempted to determine a customer's

         19  age through manual observation of the driver's

         20  license.

         21                 Again, the point here is, try as we

         22  might, we are all human and we all make mistakes.

         23  Which brings me to our major concern with the

         24  proposed ordinance.

         25                 First, the increase in fines on
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          2  tobacco retailers are unnecessarily harsh, as the

          3  current levels of fines are more than adequate when

          4  fairly and diligently enforced. To motivate

          5  employees to avoid unlawful sales, I could tell you

          6  without question that the $300 fine for a $2

          7  transaction gets our attention and prompts action

          8  quite effectively.

          9                 Second, as a much greater concern is

         10  the provision calling for the revocation of tobacco

         11  license upon a second violation in a two-year

         12  period, and the absence of any defenses to protect

         13  retailers who make diligent efforts to prevent these

         14  sales from occurring.

         15                 At 7-Eleven we pride ourselves in

         16  providing a wide array of products, including fresh

         17  products, coffee, grocery items in all our stores.

         18  The nationwide tobacco sales represents 16.7 percent

         19  of our sales, according to our latest annual report.

         20  For some of our franchises here in the City that

         21  percentage is significantly higher.

         22                 The loss of a tobacco license can be

         23  a very serious blow to the financial viability of

         24  any of our stores in the City, and this severe

         25  punishment would not be rendered lightly.
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          2                 At the very least some form of due

          3  diligence defense should be afforded to insulate a

          4  responsible retailer who can demonstrate good faith

          5  efforts such as a comprehensive training, stringent

          6  personnel policies, et cetera, from the loss of

          7  their license.

          8                 The New York Legislature last year

          9  enacted Assembly Bill 11286 which provides this sort

         10  of defense for alcoholic beverage retailers, and I

         11  understand that similar legislation has been filed

         12  in Albany to provide defenses for responsible

         13  tobacco retailers as well.

         14                 I have a copy of Assembly Bill 11286,

         15  which I would be happy to provide for you.

         16                 I also have a copy of the Texas law

         17  enacted in 1997, which provides tobacco retailers

         18  with what we refer to as "due diligence" defenses

         19  for tobacco retailers.

         20                 Given the severe nature of a license

         21  revocation, combined with the unfortunate yet

         22  undeniable fact that no one can guarantee 100

         23  percent perfect execution in every transaction, we

         24  urge you to review the proposed revocation language

         25  in your current draft, and at the very least
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          2  consider the inclusion of due diligence defense of

          3  the type I have discussed today.

          4                 In closing, let me assure you that

          5  Southland is and has long been committed to the

          6  prevention of minors' access to and consumption of

          7  tobacco products. In no way should my comments be

          8  construed to suggest that the Southland Corporation

          9  and our franchisees do not fully appreciate the

         10  responsibility regarding this product, nor do we

         11  object to the appropriate sanctions when we fail to

         12  meet this responsibility. However, what we all are

         13  about here today is changing the culture toward

         14  tobacco. This can only be accomplished by

         15  comprehensive and cooperative approach, which

         16  requires a sharing of responsibilities from all

         17  sectors of the community, which includes

         18  manufacturers, retailers, teachers, regulators,

         19  parents and the minors themselves. A success

         20  approach will recognize not only the

         21  responsibilities, but also the limitations of each

         22  party. By providing a due diligence  defense, not

         23  only will you be recognizing human limitations of

         24  retailers, but you also will be providing a positive

         25  incentive to encourage responsible retailer behavior
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          2  which will be a positive step towards achieving our

          3  mutual goal of preventing minors' access to and the

          4  consumption of tobacco products.

          5                 Thank you for your time and

          6  attention, and I would be happy to respond to any

          7  questions you may have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

          9  say that we certainly will be looking at this bill,

         10  you know, to see. I have to say that I am not

         11  totally comfortable with the bill the way it is at

         12  this point. We will be looking at it.

         13                 MS. BRODHAGEN: As I said, we are the

         14  Food Industry Alliance, 7-Eleven is a member, we

         15  also represent most of the chains and many, many,

         16  many of the independent supermarkets across the

         17  state and here in New York City.

         18                 We have supported in the past tougher

         19  anti-tobacco initiatives, we have tried to work with

         20  the Council on these things. I think our stance on

         21  those issues is pretty well known. This bill,

         22  though, frankly is alarming.

         23                 The first issue I think is the

         24  underlying rationale. Having listened to the

         25  Commissioner on a couple of occasions, describing
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          2  and listening to the questions, it still seems clear

          3  to me that the rational for this approach is just

          4  has not been demonstrated. What has been

          5  demonstrated forcefully is that aggressive

          6  enforcement works. The numbers on the charts, the

          7  numbers that have been presented before I think are

          8  startling and they are good. To over the period of

          9  time from April to September to achieve a reduction

         10  in illegal sales from 52 percent to 17 percent, is

         11  astonishing, that was done with the existing law.

         12  That was done with penalties of $300 up to $1,000.

         13  That was done with threatened suspension after the

         14  third violation, which occurred I understand in 29

         15  instances.

         16                 The case does not seem to me to be

         17  made for stronger penalties at this stage of the

         18  game when what we have is some very good evidence

         19  that aggressive enforcement given the current scheme

         20  seems to be working very, very successfully.

         21                 My understanding is that that will

         22  continue, that the grant that the Department has

         23  received from the Health Department continues and

         24  that they will be continuing the sting operation

         25  through September 1999. They have already been in
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          2  more than half of all tobacco licensees in the City,

          3  by the end of the period they have should been in

          4  all tobacco licensees in the City. We certainly

          5  don't oppose that.

          6                 But we would say let's look again at

          7  the numbers, the trend is clearly going down, let's

          8  look again at those numbers in September of 1999,

          9  and reevaluate at that time. But again, our

         10  contention would be that the law that's there has

         11  given the City the tools they need when they use

         12  them, and that the desired results are being

         13  achieved.

         14                 The proposed new penalties, both are

         15  unjustified, as I said, and really in any case are

         16  too high and out of proportion to those that are in

         17  place elsewhere.

         18                 The City law pretty closely tracks

         19  the state law, although not exactly. But in the case

         20  of state law, a fine for a first violation is the

         21  minimum of $100, but not to exceed $300. But for a

         22  second violation and subsequent, it is actually

         23  $1,000, which is higher than New York City but

         24  nowhere near the $2,000 that was being proposed

         25  under this new law.
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          2                 And even more serious, as serious as

          3  both higher penalties are, is the thought that a

          4  license would be revoked after the second offense.

          5  Again, state law and city law are currently the

          6  same, where a retailer faces suspension of their

          7  license up to a year after the third offense. That

          8  can be monitored, aggressive enforcement can take

          9  place, and in fact it has and it should.

         10                 But to move that back to the second

         11  offense, given the things that Kevin said with

         12  simple human error, makes this a very threatening

         13  piece of legislation.

         14                 We would argue that at the very

         15  least, and supporting what Kevin said, that in that

         16  case you must build in an affirmative defense

         17  against revocation. It is not enough to say that an

         18  administrative law judge uses their good judgment in

         19  a case where you are appearing.

         20                 Most of our, in fact I would say all

         21  of our members, and they have enormous turnover in

         22  the number of employees, you have heard that on

         23  other occasions, supermarket clerks, cashiers, we

         24  may have 100 percent turnover and so it is a

         25  constant challenge to keep educating new people. But
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          2  they are educated, they are trained in the legality

          3  of sales. Stores do their own internal compliance

          4  buys to doublecheck their own employees, and I think

          5  it is fair to say that when an employee is involved

          6  in an illegal sale to a minor, it is most company's

          7  policy to terminate that employee.

          8                 When those kinds of internal controls

          9  are in place, successful and sophisticated training

         10  programs that tough termination policy, then there

         11  ought to be an affirmative defense against license

         12  revocation.

         13                 And so we would argue that if the

         14  Committee at some point begins to move in this

         15  direction, that an affirmative defense against

         16  license revocation, based on training  and those

         17  kinds of internal practices, absolutely must be

         18  included. It is only fair to the retailers, and it

         19  also actually encourages the very thing that you

         20  want to encourage which is the training and the

         21  knowledge on the part of retailers.

         22                 And also, as Kevin mentioned, the

         23  state did adopt last year legislation that created

         24  an affirmative defense for alcohol sales. That is

         25  not entirely in place yet, but I think we should
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          2  take a look at that as a possible model for this

          3  approach.

          4                 With respect to the question of

          5  licensing, I was pleased to hear the Committee raise

          6  the question and the question we have, why does it

          7  cost the Department of Consumer Affairs $55 to do

          8  what it costs the Department of Finance to do for

          9  $10? I will just put that question on the table.

         10                 Those are our concerns with respect

         11  to what at first blush appears that this bill is

         12  about, the higher penalties, no affirmative defense,

         13  the fact that the justification hasn't been made,

         14  that the existing law is tough enough, that

         15  aggressive enforcement works, and we ought to give

         16  it more time to do that.

         17                 But I just want to go on to say,

         18  based on the Committee's discussion up to this

         19  point, and let me interrupt myself to compliment you

         20  on that discussion, because additional issues have

         21  been raised that make this bill particularly, it

         22  makes it particularly necessary for us to all take a

         23  much closer look at this legislation. It would

         24  appear now that it goes way beyond actually the

         25  issue of tobacco enforcement and raises the issues
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          2  of what a license means, as well as granting the

          3  Department much broader authority with respect to

          4  hearings than it has now.

          5                 Those are legitimate issues to

          6  discuss, but if they are going to be discussed they

          7  ought to be discussed separately and apart from this

          8  legislation and not incorporated into a bill about

          9  tobacco enforcement. They raise serious, serious

         10  issues and we all need to look at them and they

         11  should be discussed separately and separated from

         12  this legislation.

         13                 If you have any questions, I would be

         14  happy to answer them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         16  Watkins.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         18                 One of the things I was going to ask

         19  you, that you do have some self-policing within your

         20  organization; how many of your members include the

         21  small mom and pop stores, for one?

         22                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Depending on what you

         23  would call a mom and pop store, probably they are

         24  not represented by the food industry alliance. Any

         25  store that you would call a grocery store, a
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          2  supermarket, Met Foods and Ames and Bravos and

          3  C-Towns, they are all members of the Alliance.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Okay.

          5                 MS. BRODHAGEN: But a corner store is

          6  not.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, I don't

          8  know that they are the big offenders, if you will,

          9  and because I am going to have to leave for an

         10  appointment I know that probably Mr. Kim and his

         11  group are going to come, but one of my concerns and

         12  the concerns of many of my colleagues have to do

         13  with the sale of cigarettes to minors as it was and

         14  still is to beer and alcohol-related beverages to

         15  minors, in low-income and minority communities.

         16                 One of the things that we are

         17  concerned about, and I don't believe that this

         18  particular bill is the answer the way it is written,

         19  but we feel strongly that there needs to be better

         20  industry policing in those areas.

         21                 I didn't have an opportunity to ask

         22  the Commissioner if they have a breakdown, but I am

         23  pretty sure if you start looking at communities, you

         24  will find that the biggest offenses are taking place

         25  in low-income and minority communities with these
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          2  sales.

          3                 I, for one, and I know some of my

          4  colleagues, would welcome from the representative

          5  organizations of store owners of food industries,

          6  the small mom and pop stores, we would welcome some

          7  recommendations from you as to how to do a better

          8  job policing the industry for those people who

          9  continually abuse the system.

         10                 In those cases, the store owners are

         11  not firing the employees who are committing these

         12  offenses. I dare say that they may themselves be a

         13  part of the problem. And we find this a problem in

         14  the communities that we serve.

         15                 I don't know that you have answers

         16  now but I would like to put it out there because it

         17  has to be dealt with and this may not be the way but

         18  we have to find some way to do it, and for one of a

         19  better way, some people may vote for this kind of a

         20  bill. But I would say that maybe you could help us

         21  come up with a better way to deal with those

         22  constant and repeated offenders.

         23                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Certainly as an

         24  industry spokesperson, I could say that we could

         25  work together on the education side. We have access
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          2  to lots of materials on training, we could borrow

          3  from 7-Eleven's program, there are other programs

          4  out there. We could work together with your

          5  community, the Council member, as an industry to get

          6  those industry-based programs offered. You know, off

          7  the top of my head that is one kind of thing. We

          8  might be able to do some outreach on that side.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         10                 As I said, unfortunately I have to

         11  leave before I can hear from some of the others, but

         12  I do hope that they will get back to us because it

         13  has been our experience that the smaller the stores

         14  in our communities, the more likely we are finding

         15  those kinds of offenses and it is with the

         16  individually-owned corner stores more so than with

         17  the larger entity.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Lasher.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Thank you.

         21                 I have a real problem with what you

         22  sort of put up as a defense here of due diligence. I

         23  think that you are dealing in a very vague

         24  terminology which can almost go far afield in sort

         25  of almost any program that you implement that was
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          2  not there before all of a sudden becomes your due

          3  diligence, then we have not protected the people

          4  from the cigarettes and the young people and

          5  whatnot. And I just would wonder, is this really

          6  your affirmative defense of due diligence and how it

          7  falls into a way of preventing minors from

          8  continuing to smoke and having the availability and

          9  all of the related negatives that smoking has with

         10  just saying that we are going to do due diligence

         11  and therefore everything is okay, we have a due

         12  diligence department and they set up these rules,

         13  and now all of a sudden everything is okay. I just

         14  don't see jiving the two.

         15                 MR. JENNINGS: Councilman, the

         16  suggestions of due diligence is, as the Councilwoman

         17  had mentioned before, is about education, education

         18  of the retailers and their staffing, to understand

         19  how to identify a minor, how to handle a minor sale,

         20  how to handle a situation where it becomes difficult

         21  in their stores when they are dealing with a minor

         22  who may be difficult or even violent, when you are

         23  asking or suggesting you can't sell them there, the

         24  tobacco product. It happens on a regular basis in

         25  many of our stores.
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          2                 We would be able to give through what

          3  we are suggesting as the due diligence, is an

          4  opportunity for people to get a training program

          5  either through the bill that you are looking to

          6  pass, or through the industry, to be able to

          7  implement it in their stores where they would be

          8  able to go, similar to the food stamp program, they

          9  would go to a class that would educate them on how

         10  to handle the sales to minors.

         11                 Many of the folks that had spoken

         12  here today talked about the immigrants that had come

         13  in and are running the businesses, as the

         14  Councilwoman mentioned, on the corners of New York

         15  City, they would have the ability to go and view an

         16  educational training program on how to handle

         17  tobacco products and handle age-restricted products

         18  that would educate the retailers.

         19                 That is what we are suggesting, that

         20  someone who does participate in that, who takes the

         21  time and the effort in their retail business to

         22  educate themselves on how to handle these

         23  situations. What gets written gets done, people who

         24  are trained to handle things appropriately usually

         25  will follow through to be able to do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Are you going

          3  to be giving them these programs?

          4                 MR. JENNINGS: We have, 7-Eleven has,

          5  I have -- handling New York City and the Westchester

          6  County area I have partnered with Dutchess County to

          7  give them our program and they are using some of it

          8  at their Health Department who is handling the laws

          9  there, is using our Come of Age program to model

         10  their training programs after our Come of Age

         11  program in the County of Dutchess.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Can we get a

         13  copy of that program?

         14                 MR. JENNINGS: You certainly can. I

         15  would be happy to send it along with Pat so that you

         16  can view it. It comes with a video, it comes with a

         17  test booklet, it comes with a package that goes

         18  along with the video, it's a very simple product and

         19  is very educationally sufficient to handle what we

         20  are talking about for a defense.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Okay, I am

         22  waiting. I would like to see that program so that

         23  you can do some evaluation as to whether this is

         24  really due diligence or whether it is not, as to

         25  what we are being presented with.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MR. JENNINGS: I would be happy to

          3  send it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Thank you.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 Now for our next panel, Dr. Don

          8  Gemson, from the Commission For a Healthy New York;

          9  Joe Cherner, from Smokefree Educational Services;

         10  and David Lehmann from the American Cancer Society.

         11                 If you have statements, just give

         12  them to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         13                 Okay, please proceed.

         14                 MR. RIVERA: Okay, I am sorry. My name

         15  is Miguel Rivera, I am a volunteer for the American

         16  Cancer Society. Mr. David Lehmann, who is our Vice

         17  President of Advocacy, couldn't be here today. He

         18  wanted me to be sure that his statement was read on

         19  the record on behalf of the American Cancer Society.

         20                 Good afternoon. I am here today to

         21  discuss how Intro. 468 will strengthen the City's

         22  ability to enforce the ban on the sale of tobacco

         23  products to minors. It is a sad commentary that the

         24  battle for our children's health is being fought at

         25  the cash registers. Big Tobacco would have you

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  believe that the focus of the amendments are somehow

          3  designed to vilify and bankrupt small business

          4  owners, however, the intent of Intro. 468 is not to

          5  prohibit all tobacco sales, but rather is only

          6  designed to stop sales to minors, therefore, those

          7  who comply with the law have nothing to fear.

          8                 The amendments are designed to

          9  reverse the bleak trend of tobacco sales to minors.

         10  The penalty and enforcement provisions under the

         11  current law are being routinely subverted. In fact,

         12  a Daily News investigation found that many of the

         13  City's more than 14,000 tobacco retailers sell

         14  cigarettes to under-aged smokers with virtual

         15  impunity.

         16                 Furthermore, when a business owner

         17  has a license suspended, the sham sale of the store

         18  may occur and a new license obtained for only $10

         19  and it is business as usual.

         20                 The proposed system will both stop

         21  such transfers and will better ensure that licensed

         22  businesses are accountable for illegal sales to

         23  minors.

         24                 The increase of the penalty to $1,000

         25  is necessary to encourage adherence to the law. The
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          2  current fine of a few hundred dollars is nominal

          3  compared to the profits being realized by store

          4  owners for the sale of tobacco.

          5                 If the first fine does not deter any

          6  illegal sale under the new law, then a $2,000

          7  penalty will be levied at this point and a hearing

          8  held to assess whether the business owner should

          9  continue to enjoy the privilege of having a license

         10  to sell tobacco. These amendments will more

         11  effectively address the root of the problem faced by

         12  our community, profit at the cost of our children's

         13  health.

         14                 I urge you to enact Intro. 468 to

         15  better ensure the protection of our children from

         16  Big Tobacco's game plan, addiction.

         17                 I also have a testimony by the

         18  Manhattan Borough President, if I may be able to

         19  read that at this time, in partnership with the

         20  American Cancer Society?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How about you

         22  submit it and we will put it in the record.

         23                 MR. RIVERA: That will be fine, Ma'am.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 DR. GEMSON: Good afternoon.
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          2                 My name is Don Gemson, I am an

          3  internist and I am an associate professor at

          4  Columbia School of Public Health. I live and work in

          5  New York City and I am the parent of two young

          6  children. I am testifying in support of 468.

          7                 My colleagues and I at Columbia

          8  School of Public Health published a paper in the

          9  June 1998 issue of the American Journal of Public

         10  Health, which you should have in front of you, or

         11  somewhere near you.

         12                 This paper, this study directly

         13  tested the effectiveness of fines, of enforcement of

         14  the law prohibiting tobacco sales to minors. Working

         15  with 12- and 13-year-old children from School

         16  District 3 in Upper Manhattan, the students visited

         17  152 stores licensed to sell tobacco in Central

         18  Harlem. A 12 or 13-year-old child would enter the

         19  store, ask to purchase an individual or loosie

         20  cigarette. If refused, a second child would enter a

         21  short time after and ask to purchase a pack. The

         22  results at baseline indicated a remarkably high 98

         23  percent of 152 stores in Harlem sold a loose

         24  cigarette or pack to 12 and 13-year-old children.

         25  Ninety-eight percent.
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          2                 We then conducted an experiment. We

          3  randomized all 152 stores into three groups. One

          4  group we left alone, the control group. One group

          5  received an educational visit about the law, where a

          6  staff member personally visited the store and

          7  explained the law and the penalties. And the third

          8  group of stores was fined for violating the law, if

          9  they violated the law, which we called the

         10  enforcement group.

         11                 We then returned six months later

         12  with the same children to the same stores, the

         13  results are found on the third page of the paper,

         14  which is page 938. But in sum, for the key measure

         15  of the total sales, either loose cigarettes or a

         16  pack, for the control stores there was no

         17  significant change, slight decline of eight percent.

         18  For the educational visit stores, there was a slight

         19  decline of ten percent. For the stores that were

         20  fined, there was a statistically significant decline

         21  of 45 percent. They went from 100 percent of sales

         22  at baseline to 55 percent.

         23                 Although it is worth pointing out

         24  that still after a $300 fine, slightly over half the

         25  stores continued to sell cigarettes to 12 and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  13-year-old children.

          3                 When we went back six months later,

          4  the findings were quite similar. The control stores

          5  were still selling to 89 percent of kids, the

          6  educational stores at a slightly lower rate, and the

          7  enforcement stores were selling to 47 percent of

          8  kids.

          9                 In sum, this study, which to my

         10  knowledge remains the only randomized trial

         11  comparing control, education and enforcement,

         12  clearly indicates that education had little impact

         13  and that fines were necessary to reduce illegal sale

         14  of tobacco to children.

         15                 As we state in the conclusion of the

         16  paper, two basic approaches exist for increasing

         17  compliance by retailers with laws prohibiting

         18  tobacco sales to minors, education and enforcement.

         19                 Results from this study demonstrate a

         20  clear benefit of the enforcement strategy. The

         21  relatively modest effects of the educational visit

         22  were significantly exceeded by laying down the law

         23  to merchants through the administration of fines.

         24                 Yet, the decline in sales was not

         25  enough. Even in the face of a $300 fine, about half
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          2  of the stores continue to sell cigarettes to 12 and

          3  13-year-old children. That is not good enough.

          4                 We believe our study demonstrates

          5  that fines work, but they must be stiff and they

          6  must be consistently enforced.

          7                 If the intent is to keep cigarettes

          8  out of the hands of our City's children, our

          9  research speaks in support of 468.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. CHERNER: My name is Joe Cherner,

         12  and I am President of Smokefree Educational

         13  Services, the largest smokefree advocacy group in

         14  the country, and I am Policy Chair of the Coalition

         15  for a Smokefree City, which includes most of New

         16  York's most prestigious health organizations.

         17                 We all agree that merchants are

         18  selling cigarettes to minors. I don't there is

         19  anyone here that disagrees, I don't think the person

         20  from 7-Eleven or the people from the business

         21  associations or the people in the Council disagree.

         22  Everyone agrees, merchants are selling cigarettes to

         23  minors. The question is, what should we do about it?

         24                 Are we going to treat it as a serious

         25  offense? Are we going to treat it as a non-serious
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          2  offense? If we want to do something about it, and if

          3  we want to treat it as a serious offense, then I

          4  think Intro. 468 is a great step in the right

          5  direction. We strongly support Intro. 468. We think

          6  that fines should be high, as they would be under

          7  468, and we think especially that licenses should be

          8  revoked if merchants are selling cigarettes to

          9  minors or violating the law twice.

         10                 How hard is it not to sell cigarettes

         11  to a child? How hard is it for an immigrant to

         12  understand that you don't sell cigarettes to a

         13  12-year-old?

         14                 In Don's study they had almost every

         15  single merchant in Harlem sold to 12 and

         16  13-year-olds. The only thing that worked in getting

         17  some of them not to sell to 12 and 13-year-olds was

         18  a fine. It's clear that fines work much better than

         19  education. Sure we should have education, but fines

         20  are the deterrent that merchants respond to.

         21                 As Councilman Sabini said, I hope you

         22  will introduce legislation that will significantly

         23  penalize the merchants who sell illegal cigarettes

         24  without the proper tax stamps, cigarettes from other

         25  states. Of course we should have strong laws that
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          2  prohibit that type of action. But just because we

          3  don't isn't reason not to pass these tough laws in

          4  Intro. 468.

          5                 In addition, like you all, we hope

          6  that more funds will be devoted from the Mayor's

          7  budget to beefing up enforcement at DCA. Of course

          8  enforcement should be beefed up, and of course there

          9  should be more resources devoted to it, but just

         10  because there aren't isn't a reason to not pass 468.

         11                 When parents fight it's always the

         12  children who suffer. And when the Council fights

         13  with the Administration it shouldn't be the children

         14  who suffer.

         15                 We urge you to pass 468 and we urge

         16  you to do it on a timely basis.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Sung Soo Kim

         19  and Brian Han.

         20                 MR. KIM: My name is Sung Soo Kim, I

         21  am the President of Korean American Small Business

         22  Service Center of New York. Next to me is Mr. Brian

         23  Han, one of my members who wanted to come to join me

         24  to testify at this hearing today with some video

         25  tape.
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          2                 This hearing I actually represent

          3  1,500 Korean American retail cigarette dealers in

          4  the City. We unequivocally support the war to curb

          5  tobacco use among our young people, and we are thus

          6  ready to be enthusiastic volunteers in this war but

          7  not casualties of any misplaced goal that victimizes

          8  struggling small store owners.

          9                 Intro. 468 needs to be seriously

         10  amended so that neighborhood retailers are not

         11  turned into cannon fodder in the war against

         12  underage smoking.

         13                 Intro. 468 is a large nail in our

         14  regulatory coffin. One-thousand dollar fine for the

         15  first violation and the revocation of license with

         16  $2,000 fine for the second violation are too harsh

         17  for any grocer to survive.

         18                 Tobacco sales for a grocery store

         19  accounts for 10 percent of sales volume and are

         20  close to 20 percent of gross profits.

         21                 The revocation of a license at the

         22  second time violation fatally hurts a grocer who has

         23  been struggling to survive under the least friendly

         24  small business environment of the city.

         25                 The city recorded over 7,500
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          2  commercial warrants for evictions for bankruptcy

          3  annually for the past three years. Thirty percent of

          4  960 grocers registered at KASBSC as members showed

          5  last year the failure of their businesses,

          6  bankruptcy, ownership change, and others being the

          7  features.

          8                 The new law under the existing sting

          9  operation with Code Section 17-620 will hit any

         10  grocery store leading to the revocation of a

         11  license.

         12                 Mr. Han, who testifies with me at

         13  this hearing, is an example.

         14                 Mr. Han, a registered member of

         15  KASBSC, has shown all his record of perfect

         16  law-abiding entrepreneurship over 12 years. He was

         17  charged with the violation of selling cigarettes to

         18  a minor, and he confidently believed he was over 25

         19  years old.

         20                 We came to the hearing together, and

         21  we showed the video tape and DCA, Administrative

         22  Judge herself said, looks like 24, maybe 25, she was

         23  not certain. In the record she said he is definitely

         24  over 18. And to make it short, I would like to show

         25  the videotape to your Council members and please
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          2  make some judgments by observing this.

          3                 (Video shown.)

          4                 MR. SUNG SOO KIM: How old do you

          5  think the buyer is? It is up to your judgment, but

          6  DCA, Administrative Judge, declared 23, 24. Not

          7  certainly, but in record over 18, but not 25.

          8                 Mr. Han believed 25. He had 18 people

          9  saw this video and all 18 people, he has a store in

         10  the Hispanic community, and 18, they said he looked

         11  like 25. I myself judge as 25.

         12                 That's all. Thank you.

         13                 Minors involved in the sting

         14  operation normally look older. We are asking DCA why

         15  they always send, in most cases those minors

         16  involved in the sting operation appear definitely

         17  over 18, but the consensus enforcement should be,

         18  they have to send the minors, obviously looking

         19  under 18. Now, why are they sending them, the minors

         20  who look very old, to now find out in violation?

         21                 Unlike selling beer to a minor,

         22  employees who are actually involved in selling

         23  cigarettes to minors are totally not responsible for

         24  the violations, while licensees will be ended up

         25  with the license revocation. This is another serious
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          2  contributing factor leading easily to the

          3  revocation.

          4                 Selling beer to minors at the store,

          5  the cashier, for example, will be charged a criminal

          6  charge. So he is responsible to the law. But in

          7  these cigarette cases, store employees, they can

          8  sell to minors, they don't care, they are not

          9  responsible, only store owners own up to this

         10  responsibility. By this new law, Intro. 468, will

         11  definitely easily lead the store owners to be ending

         12  up with a revocation. An inspection is so easy thing

         13  to be done (sic).

         14                 I have another case. I have a member

         15  whose license was suspended one year. The sting

         16  operation occurred within 25 days three times,

         17  August 5, August 15, August 29, by the same

         18  inspector, the very same hour. And the person who

         19  sell some cigarettes to minor was one employee, one

         20  person committed this. He left, of course, he was

         21  fired, but store owner ended up to be, the license

         22  to be suspended.

         23                 I would like to ask Council members

         24  to read my age. What do you think, how do you think

         25  I look like?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Mr. Kim, I

          3  just have to say to you, you know, I understand some

          4  people look older and some people look younger. I

          5  don't know if that is the point. I have a

          6  32-year-old daughter that still gets proofed because

          7  she looks like she's 18 years old, so I don't think

          8  that that is the reason. I mean, I have feelings

          9  about the bill but not because of the proofing.

         10                 MR. KIM: The point I am bringing up

         11  is that the existing operation, existing operation

         12  of enforcement is very partial, very subjective, now

         13  adding up this, you give kind of reckless tools to

         14  the enforcement agents through this Intro. 468 and

         15  it is going to create catastrophe to the small

         16  businesses. And it is my feeling that this bill is

         17  much, much politicized bill, which will create an

         18  unexpected negative impact on retail cigarette

         19  dealers, whose risk results that nobody in the City

         20  would, you know, like to have.

         21                 Lastly, I have to compare something.

         22  Through my serving the community over 16 years, this

         23  is, including this is a big nail in the regulatory

         24  coffin, we are really kind of psychosomatic. We

         25  don't feel good running business in the City of New
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          2  York. You know, there is too much, too much

          3  regulation.

          4                 Now, ask any store owner, do you see

          5  any people smiling, they have all these regulations

          6  these days, and we are treated like criminals. So, I

          7  am appealing to those of you on the City Council,

          8  Council members, to carefully reexamine this Intro.

          9  468, not to create any unexpected serious negative

         10  economic impact on retail cigarette dealers.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         13  Thank you very much.

         14                 I would like to call Jay LeMaster,

         15  Dr. Sally Guttmacher, and Walter G. Rodriguez.

         16                 MR. LeMASTER: Good afternoon. I am

         17  here to support 468. My name is Jay L. LeMaster. I

         18  am President of the Nu-Voices Club of Mount Sinai

         19  Hospital, and a member of the Board of Directors of

         20  the International Association of laryngectomies and

         21  a member of Head and Neck Cancer Survivors Post

         22  Treatment Resource Program at Memorial

         23  Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. I am a survivor of

         24  both throat and lung cancers.

         25                 I began smoking at an early age, in
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          2  my teens. Many of my friends who are cancer

          3  survivors and many who have died began smoking even

          4  younger, as early as 12 or 13.

          5                 We have been addressing the issue of

          6  honesty in this country for some time. This is a

          7  lie. It's a cigarette. This is an addiction.

          8  Probably the most difficult addiction to overcome.

          9  This kills. It permanently cripples. It is

         10  extraordinarily painful. This is an international

         11  and national financial burden. This creates

         12  extraordinary profits for the manufacturer and the

         13  seller. Smoking does not make you in, with it, or

         14  sophisticated.

         15                 Tobacco products kill between 415,000

         16  and 450,000 Americans each year. Over one million

         17  citizens of the country if India are killed each

         18  year from tobacco products.

         19                 The kind of tobacco use, that begins

         20  in youth, causes asthma in children and begins the

         21  immediate damage of body functions and tissues.

         22                 Tobacco is a major cause of cancer,

         23  emphysema and heart disease.

         24                 Just sell cigarettes to a person for

         25  ten to 20 years and let's say that person smokes

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  less than a pack a day or up to two packs a day, and

          3  this is what our teenagers begin their death. Two

          4  out of four of these people who have smoked from ten

          5  to 20 years will die prematurely. One out of four

          6  people who began smoking in their teens, who smoked

          7  for ten or 20 years, will die 15 to 25 years

          8  prematurely, often with years of suffering.

          9                 Children are innocent. This is a lie.

         10  Don't lie to our children. Thank you. I really meant

         11  to say don't sell lies to our children.

         12                 DR. GUTTMACHER: My name is Sally

         13  Guttmacher, and I am the President of the Public

         14  Health Association of New York City.

         15                 The Public Health Association of New

         16  York City represents over 400 physicians, nurses,

         17  educators, health administrators, researchers,

         18  students, and health care consumers, and it strongly

         19  supports the message of Intro. 468.

         20                 There is no doubt that cigarette

         21  smoking is a primary risk factor for many deadly

         22  chronic diseases. For example, cigarette smoking is

         23  the number one risk factor associated with heart

         24  disease, lung cancer, emphysema and bronchitis.

         25                 The risk for many other cancers,
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          2  including breast cancer, also increases for people

          3  who smoke cigarettes. These diseases develop slowly

          4  over time, taking their toll largely among

          5  middle-aged and elderly. There is no doubt, however,

          6  as is the case for many bad habits, most adults

          7  addicted to cigarettes begin smoking in their teens.

          8                 Adolescence is the most common time

          9  to begin smoking cigarettes. According to Health and

         10  Human Services, about 3,000 teenagers become daily

         11  smokers every day. In fact, 80 percent of persons

         12  who ever tried a cigarette smoked their first

         13  cigarette before age 18.

         14                 Nationally, after a period of little

         15  change, teen smoking has increased each year since

         16  1992. In 1992, about one in five adolescents aged 12

         17  to 17 years said that they were current cigarette

         18  smokers. And this rate is going up largely because

         19  of aggressive and targeted advertising. Between 1991

         20  and 1996, smoking increased from 14.3 percent to 21

         21  percent amongst eighth graders, and from 20.8

         22  percent to 30.4 percent amongst tenth graders.

         23                 Not only is smoking among teens

         24  increasing but for a variety of reasons there is a

         25  socioeconomic gradient in smoking. That is, smoking
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          2  is more common among those with lower income, who as

          3  we know have the least access to health care.

          4                 In terms of access to cigarettes,

          5  nationally 38.7 percent of students less than 18

          6  years of age who reported current cigarette use

          7  purchase their cigarettes from a store or gas

          8  station. And 75.5 percent of those were not asked to

          9  show any proof of age. And those are figures from

         10  the CDC, Center for Disease Control.

         11                 Therefore, making it as difficult as

         12  possible for teens to get cigarettes is the most

         13  important preventive health strategy.

         14                 Intro. 468 is a piece of legislation

         15  designed to put teeth in already existing law, which

         16  at the moment appears too ineffective to prevent

         17  adolescents from purchasing cigarettes, even know

         18  this is against the law.

         19                 There is a need for a department of

         20  our City government to take an aggressive stance

         21  toward such legal infractions. If retailers

         22  understand the selling of cigarettes carries with it

         23  penalties with economic consequences, they will be

         24  less likely to continue.

         25                 Shifting the responsibility for
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          2  enforcement of this legislation to the Department of

          3  Consumer Affairs and increasing the penalties for

          4  those that break the law is more likely to exact

          5  compliance from retailers who are currently lax

          6  where selling cigarettes to minors is concerned.

          7                 It also should send a clear message

          8  to manufacturers of cigarettes, that if they target

          9  children for promotion of cigarettes, legal measures

         10  will be strengthened and enforced to protect this

         11  vulnerable segment of our population.

         12                 As our nation struggles with the

         13  problems of controlling the cost of health care, it

         14  is simply counterproductive and foolish to allow

         15  cigarette manufacturers to reap enormous profits

         16  while adding to our tax and insurance burden. If we

         17  can decrease teen smoking, we will save many of our

         18  young people from premature death, and enable them

         19  to reach their full potential as healthy adults.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Good afternoon. My

         22  name is Walter Rodriguez, and I am the Environmental

         23  Health Advocate for the New York Public Interest

         24  Research Group, NYPIRG.

         25                 NYPIRG is New York State's largest
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          2  environmental, student directed environmental

          3  consumer advocacy organization, and good government

          4  reform organization. We are a member of the

          5  Coalition of A Healthy New York, and we are on the

          6  Governor's Commission for a Healthy New York, the

          7  Advisory Board of the New York State Department of

          8  Health on tobacco use and prevention issues.

          9                 NYPIRG has enjoyed an extremely

         10  productive working relationship with the City

         11  Council on tobacco prevention since 1990. We have

         12  worked together to eliminate cigarette vending

         13  machines located in areas accessible to youth. We

         14  have banned distribution of tobacco products, and

         15  most recently strengthened New York's Clean Indoor

         16  Air Act.

         17                 However, there is still more work to

         18  be accomplished. As the number of youth smokers rise

         19  at an alarming rate of 87,000 per year, and the cost

         20  of treating tobacco-related diseases reaches a sum

         21  of $3 million annually in New York State, we find

         22  ourselves with the uninterrupted problem of

         23  preventing our youth from obtaining tobacco

         24  products.

         25                 In 1994, approximately 17 percent, or
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          2  200,000 New York children in grades seven through 12

          3  smoked daily. That was up from 14 percent in 1990,

          4  and I am sure most of those children appear to be

          5  under 18 and certainly under age 25.

          6                 According to the National Institute

          7  of Drug Abuse, half adult smokers started smoking by

          8  the age 14. Moreover, 89 percent of adult smokers

          9  began by the time they were 18, according to the

         10  American Cancer Society, as a matter of fact.

         11                 The fact of the matter is that if

         12  they can't buy, if they can't buy it, they can't

         13  smoke it. Let's stop them before they start.

         14                 We applaud the Department of Consumer

         15  Affairs' operation Summer Smokeout 1998, that netted

         16  2,651 violations. I submit to you that those 2,651

         17  nails of coffins of youth who have begun smoking due

         18  to careless retailers who sold tobacco to minors.

         19  But how many other violations have been left

         20  undocumented is what I ask?

         21                 Strong laws need to be partnered with

         22  strong enforcement. It is the only way we can let

         23  tobacco retailers know we mean business and our

         24  kids' health is not to be traded for their products.

         25                 The message must be sent to retailers
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          2  and wholesalers of tobacco, if they are going to

          3  afflict our children during their adolescence, then

          4  we are going to take their license.

          5                 Lack of concern that many retailers

          6  have for the law and children's health is

          7  intolerable. And in the era of zero tolerance the

          8  City must include illegal tobacco sales as part of

          9  their agenda.

         10                 We strongly support Intro. 468.

         11  Higher penalties will definitely lead to make

         12  retailers accountable for breaking the law.

         13                 If you haven't learned your lesson by

         14  the second violation in two years for selling

         15  tobacco to a minor, the retailer shouldn't be

         16  allowed to sell tobacco products point blank, okay?

         17                 The trend is going down, but not on

         18  its own. How many violations is enough? Or for that

         19  matter, how many kids obtain tobacco illegally or

         20  are being basically sold tobacco illegally, is

         21  enough?

         22                 It is beyond my ability to understand

         23  how any law abiding educated retailer would have any

         24  problem or any fear of Intro. 468. We also would

         25  like to highlight that the Department of Consumer
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          2  Affairs needs to have enough resources to carry out

          3  its new responsibility and we look forward to

          4  working with you.

          5                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

          6  today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          8  Thank you all very, very much.

          9                 Howard Tisch.

         10                 MR. TISCH: Madame Chairperson, and

         11  members of the Council, I thank you for the

         12  opportunity of appearing here. My name is Howard

         13  Tisch, I am the President of the Greater New York

         14  Metropolitan Food Council, which represents

         15  approximately 1,200 independent food stores in the

         16  City of New York.

         17                 I have prepared and distributed four

         18  pages of testimony that I was prepared to give on

         19  the question of, on the tobacco aspects of this

         20  bill, and I hope you will have the opportunity to

         21  read it.

         22                 However, this was an educational

         23  experience this morning in hearing the Commissioner

         24  talk, because this clearly is not a tobacco bill. If

         25  you read what is proposed here, this bill is a total
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          2  revision of the powers of the Department of Consumer

          3  Affairs in every area that they regulate.

          4                 I am really not prepared to do the

          5  full analysis of it, because it just hit me when he

          6  was speaking. What it does is -- and let me start by

          7  saying I am opposed to 468 as it applies to tobacco

          8  sale. That you have gotten testimony on and you can

          9  read what I have said.

         10                 The Department of Consumer Affairs

         11  particularly under this Administration runs a series

         12  of hearings and a series of procedures which are the

         13  most violent anti-small business in the history of

         14  the Department of Consumer Affairs. And as you

         15  probably know, I was the Deputy Commissioner of

         16  Consumer Affairs for some years.

         17                 You saw Mr. Kim's testimony and the

         18  photos which he was able to get from the undercover

         19  agent going in. I have here a transcript of a

         20  hearing that was held at the Department of Consumer

         21  Affairs on an alleged tobacco sale. Were you to read

         22  it, I think your faith in America would be destroyed

         23  as to what goes on.

         24                 We were not permitted to see the

         25  alleged minor, or to know anything about him, they
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          2  refused to describe him by race, color, creed, size,

          3  age, hair color, all to protect him, all right?

          4                 You will see through here continuous

          5  testimony of an inspector that they had to protect

          6  the minor from violence. My client at that time was

          7  a Korean store owner. He is five feet two inches

          8  tall, if he makes it to 120 pounds, it's a lot.

          9                 There were two inspectors allegedly

         10  in the store and the alleged minor. The inspector

         11  would have us believe, and this is the testimony,

         12  that the inspector never spoke to the minor, from

         13  the time they found the minor at the Department of

         14  Consumer Affairs at 42 Broadway, to the time they

         15  went to the store, they never said a word. She never

         16  asked the minor his name, never asked how old he

         17  was, had no discussions with him. She did not find

         18  out the minor's name, and this is testimony, sworn

         19  testimony, until the morning of the hearing when she

         20  was given an affidavit signed by one Robert Luongo,

         21  who she was told was the name of the minor here that

         22  made the purchase.

         23                 My client, Mr. Reed, testified that

         24  on the day of the sale, although he doesn't know

         25  when the sale took place or the time, that he was
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          2  present in the store and he hired an observer to see

          3  to it that they comply with the law.

          4                 This bill is really designed to allow

          5  the Department of Consumer Affairs to avoid ever

          6  having to get to court to deny a respondent ever

          7  having the right to defend themselves from charges

          8  that are broad.

          9                 Right now, as the Commissioner

         10  testified, if a supermarket gets a violation for not

         11  having a customer scale, and they want to fight with

         12  the Department, having gone to one of these star

         13  chamber proceedings that the Department runs,

         14  eventually the Department must bring them into Civil

         15  Court where they can defend the case. This law,

         16  which has nothing to do with tobacco products, will

         17  say no, no, you are bound by our hearing, and the

         18  only thing you can do after we find you guilty is

         19  bring an article 78 proceeding.

         20                 The ability of a small business to

         21  commence an Article 78 proceeding is economically

         22  impossible, particularly the way the Department has

         23  been operating under this Administration. And I

         24  assure you, I am very familiar with this Department

         25  under every administration for the past 30 years.
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          2                 I ask you to carefully look at this

          3  law, if you want to deal with tobacco products, look

          4  at it from a tobacco point of view. But do not let

          5  the Department use this bill as a subterfuge for

          6  expanding their power supermarkets, laundries, movie

          7  theaters and every licensed category, as you

          8  probably found out from them, yes, well, we may not

          9  revoke a license on the first offense if it is an

         10  item pricing violation, but maybe we will.

         11                 I mean, what this bill does

         12  apparently, and we will submit and do further

         13  analysis on it, is it creates a consumer czar, more

         14  powerful than Bess Myerson in her heyday, more

         15  powerful than Betty Ferness, Mark Green, Bruce

         16  Ratner, and I tell you, it is an incredibly

         17  dangerous situation to allow one man the absolute

         18  power of life and death over small businesses in

         19  this city will, number one, lose thousands of small

         20  businesses, and increase the cost of food product

         21  and doing business in the City for every day

         22  consumers.

         23                 I thank you. I am sorry I got off the

         24  point. I had spent a great deal of time writing my

         25  testimony on the tobacco end.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I promise you

          3  I will read it.

          4                 MR. TISCH: It is a shocking

          5  disclosure as to what the Commissioner is trying to

          6  do and his method of concealing it from you and from

          7  the Council.

          8                 I do want to show one thing on the

          9  tobacco. We are definitely opposed to any sale of

         10  tobacco products to minors. We have distributed

         11  hundreds of kits, similar to this, with signs and

         12  buttons and posters and little cards to hand out to

         13  kids who try and buy it. We have educational

         14  programs running with our stores, we are now

         15  expanding the Food Council to include some 15,000

         16  mom and pop and bodega stores so that we can get to

         17  them with educational materials.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I have seen

         19  these.

         20                 MR. TISCH: All right.

         21                 What government should be doing, and

         22  the trend in this Council has been to work on

         23  education, to work with industry, government should

         24  be working with business, that is what has made the

         25  City what it is today. To go back, to turn the clock

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  back 30 years to where government was at war with

          3  business is a shocking and horrible ending.

          4                 I thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          6                 Dr. William Cahan.

          7                 Is Jennifer Taub here?

          8                 MS. TAUB: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Are you with

         10  the same American Society that testified?

         11                 MR. TAUB: Yes, I am.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you have

         13  anything different to add?

         14                 MS. TAUB: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay. Do you

         16  want to sit down?

         17                 DR. CAHAN: Let me identify myself. I

         18  am Dr. William Cahan. And for 40 years I have been a

         19  lung cancer surgeon at Memorial Sloan-Kettering

         20  Cancer Center, so I have had a first eye-view of the

         21  tragedies of smoking. They have been specimens in my

         22  hands and lives who have been absolutely destroyed

         23  by tobacco.

         24                 First of all, let me congratulate the

         25  Council by having passed the ordinance restricting
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          2  smoking in restaurants. When restaurant owners were

          3  out in this audience, were giving great voice, loud

          4  voices, to the fact that their business would be

          5  ruined if this ordinance against smoking in

          6  restaurants were passed, P.S. the restaurant

          7  business has boomed since that time.

          8                 This idea of children being allowed

          9  to smoke or getting smoking shall we say, in spite

         10  of restrictions, legal restrictions, reminds me of

         11  my youth when they had fireworks for sale, and these

         12  were all legal, you could go to any store and get

         13  yourself a whole bunch of firecrackers, and of

         14  course the evening all of the emergency rooms in

         15  hospitals were loaded with kids that were burned,

         16  loss of their eyesight or even some of their hands.

         17  As a result of which a law was passed restricting

         18  sales of fireworks.

         19                 Now, you may think that children have

         20  a great passion for smoking cigarettes, but take

         21  fireworks away from kids, it's really something

         22  because they adore the idea of the power it gives

         23  them. As a consequence, many so-called bootleg

         24  stores began opening up that allowed kids to come

         25  and purchase these. It was only when these became
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          2  common knowledge that ordinances were passed that

          3  bored down on this particular elicit behavior. So,

          4  today you don't see fireworks in New York, you see

          5  firework spectacles to be sure. So that there is a

          6  point in vigilance in these enforcements, and it can

          7  be done. Kids themselves can eventually get the

          8  message.

          9                 In spite of all of the efforts of the

         10  bans of the minors smoking by law, the kids still

         11  will find their ways of getting loosies, as they

         12  call them, and they will find merchants who will

         13  sneak them cigarettes, and of course this is not

         14  what is the best thing for them.

         15                 You know, we know in the world of

         16  cancer that young growing membranes are much more

         17  sensitive to carcinogens than are those of adults.

         18  And their lungs are much more sensitive to scaring

         19  affect of cigarette smoke also, as a result of which

         20  we have the seeds of disaster in these kids smoking.

         21                 We have the latent cancers not only

         22  of the lung but of the larynx, the esophagus, the

         23  bladder, the cervix and so on, and the lungs of

         24  course we have scarring and emphysema. So that we

         25  must do everything to prevent these diseases because
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          2  we, as lung cancer surgeons, see the end result of

          3  these tragedies. This is a clear and present danger.

          4                 Although, restricting cigarette sales

          5  to minors reduces some of the income of shopkeepers,

          6  what is a choice between profits and kids' health,

          7  the latter must prevail. That not only makes good

          8  moral sense, but in time by preventing many

          9  tobacco-related medical problems, it will reduce the

         10  City's huge economic burden of caring for tobacco

         11  victims.

         12                 There are no compromises with cancer

         13  - I know. There cannot therefore be any compromise

         14  with efforts to prevent it. Therefore the proposal

         15  for a more vigorous enforcement and ban on tobacco

         16  sales to minors must be adopted.

         17                 In time, with patience and diligence,

         18  like the fireworks experience, kids will no longer

         19  be able to purchase incidents of self destruction. I

         20  am sure the Council will show the same dedication to

         21  the City's health as they have done in the past.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MS. TAUB: Good afternoon. My name is

         24  Jennifer Taub, and I am a volunteer for the American

         25  Cancer Society.
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          2                 I am here today to urge you to adopt

          3  Intro. 468, which will be instrumental in decreasing

          4  the sale of tobacco products to children. The war is

          5  upon us and the fight is for our children who are

          6  Big Tobacco's greatest target. Children who smoke

          7  become lifetime consumers of tobacco. I view this

          8  bill from several perspectives. The first is through

          9  the eyes of the daughter who lost her mother to

         10  cancer two years ago. "My mother began to smoke when

         11  she was a young girl. I witnessed firsthand the

         12  physical and emotional suffering caused by an

         13  addiction to tobacco."

         14                 The second perspective is through the

         15  eyes of a parent who does not want children to be

         16  able to purchase tobacco which is addictive and

         17  deadly.

         18                 Intro. 468 is essential, since it

         19  will provide a shift in the enforcement to the

         20  Department of Consumer Affairs, where there are

         21  resources to proactively enforce the bill.

         22                 The amendments to the bill which

         23  increase penalty and allow for revocation of a shop

         24  owners license after two violations are necessary to

         25  underscore the core of the bill, do not sell tobacco
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          2  to minors. We are fighting for the lives of our

          3  children. As a daughter, mother and volunteer for

          4  the American Cancer Society, I urge the Council to

          5  adopt 468 to protect New York City children from the

          6  addiction of tobacco.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Kita deSesa and Gary deSesa. They are

         11  gone?

         12                 Reed Perlowitz. Who is Melanie

         13  Shield? Who is Reed Perlowitz?

         14                 MR. PERLOWITZ: My name is Reed

         15  Perlowitz. I am a high school teacher and also the

         16  Director of Protect Our Youth. Some posters are

         17  being handed around from our organization.

         18                 Protect Our Youth operates in the

         19  Midwood area of Brooklyn around Edward R. Murrow

         20  High School. Our purpose is to reward stores near

         21  our school who refuse to sell tobacco products to

         22  minors. The posters, the ones you see, are awarded

         23  to these stores and advertising of our program urges

         24  consumers to bring their business to the stores that

         25  display the posters.
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          2                 Compliance checks are run with

          3  student volunteers, with parental permission and

          4  under faculty supervision. The legal sales in the

          5  Murrow area have been reduced from 75 percent in

          6  1994, down to 18 percent today.

          7                 The history of one of the stores,

          8  though, is extremely relevant to today's

          9  proceedings.

         10                 The store is called Jimmy's Grocery.

         11  This store from the beginning refused an invitation

         12  to become a Protect Our Youth member. The reason for

         13  this became evident when our undercover students

         14  began visiting the store. Our students found little

         15  difficulty in purchasing tobacco from them.

         16                 After several attempts to educate

         17  this store, finally a report to the Department of

         18  Consumer Affairs had to be made.

         19                 It should be noted that the education

         20  by Protect Our Youth was enough to motivate several

         21  stores to comply with the law.

         22                 The first compliance checks that were

         23  performed with DCA was also enough to convince two

         24  other stores to quit selling to minors, after they

         25  were fined. Jimmy's, however, did not stop. To this
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          2  date the location of Jimmy's has been fined on five

          3  separate occasions for selling tobacco to minors.

          4                 After our fourth citation, agents

          5  from the Department of Finance visited the store in

          6  order to suspend their license. They were informed

          7  that the store was under new management. Then the

          8  store was cited again, this time for the fifth time.

          9  Since then, on four visits by Protect Our Youth,

         10  Jimmy's has sold tobacco illegally all four times.

         11                 On my last visit recently I noticed

         12  that once again the store was sold. The owner stated

         13  that he bought the store a few months ago, yet last

         14  January, a month ago, they sold again to one of our

         15  students.

         16                 In conclusion, as critical the law

         17  is, it is not sufficient. Even though this was the

         18  only store cited in the Murrow area last summer,

         19  this one store is all that is needed for youngsters

         20  to have access to tobacco. Increasing the fines and

         21  making license suspension real, is a necessary step

         22  in reducing the access to tobacco.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. SHIELD: My name is Naomi Shield.

         25  I am a senior in high school and a proud member of
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          2  Protect Our Youth, an organization which targets

          3  teen tobacco addiction. During the four years that I

          4  have participated and protected our youth, I have

          5  witnessed firsthand the startling frequency with

          6  which tobacco vendors have repeatedly broken the law

          7  by selling cigarettes to under-aged smokers. It is

          8  quite easy for a teenager to purchase cigarettes

          9  these days and that is just plain wrong.

         10                 Protect Our Youth has been successful

         11  in curbing some vendors' illegal ways, but other

         12  vendors continue to break the law as they do not

         13  sense any real threat to their license to sell

         14  tobacco and make a profit.

         15                 This is where Intro. 486 would serve

         16  us well, by increasing fines and lessoning the

         17  number of offenses until license suspension, perhaps

         18  we can finally penetrate the message into not

         19  law-abiding vendors that what they are doing is

         20  unquestionably punishable by law. It is not

         21  something to be taken lightly or simply a

         22  condemnation that they can work around to avoid

         23  paying for their offense.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2                 Thank you both very much.

          3                 This meeting is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:44 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 9th day of February 1999.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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